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DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard, B.Sc., M.B.A., B.B.S., J.P. (Chairman)

Aged 69. A MBA graduate from The University of Santa Clara, California, USA and a holder of Bachelor of Science 
degree in Business Administration from Menlo College, California, USA. The chairman and managing director of 
Richcom Company Limited. An executive director of Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited and an 
independent non-executive director of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited since January 2021 (both of which are listed 
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). He was formerly an 
Independent Non-executive Director of Wheelock and Company Limited until its delisting from the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange in July 2020. A director of various private business enterprises. An advisor of Tang Shiu Kin 
and Ho Tim Charitable Fund. A steward of The Hong Kong Jockey Club. Appointed as a director, the vice chairman 
and acting chairman of the Company in 1987, 1998 and 2016 respectively, and as the Chairman of the Company 
on 20 March 2017.

Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick

Aged 75. A MBA graduate from The University of Toronto and was awarded an Honorary Doctor of Business 
Administration by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and an Honorary Doctor of Laws by the University of 
Toronto. A chairman of OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited and a non-executive director of Miramar Hotel and 
Investment Company, Limited. A honorary member of the Court and Adjunct Professor with the Faculty’s School of 
Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Vice President of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Bankers and a member of Board of Governors of The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong. Appointed as a 
non-executive director of the Company on 4 May 2016 and re-designated as an executive director of the Company 
on 25 November 2016.

Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin

Aged 80. A director of Citizen Thunderbird Travel Limited. Appointed as a director of the Company in 2000 and 
re-designated as an executive director of the Company on 26 November 2020.

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Aged 72. Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor of science degree in electronic and electrical engineering from Loughborough 
University in England in June 1972 and a master of science degree in business studies from London Graduate School 
of Business Studies (London Business School) in England in July 1974. An executive director of Somerley Capital 
Limited, a licensed corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance to carry on Type 1 (dealing in 
securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities. A non-executive director of Goldlion 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and acts as a 
member of each of its audit, remuneration and nomination committees. A fellow member of both the Hong Kong 
Securities and Investment Institute and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Appointed as a non-executive director 
of the Company on 11 September 2020.

Mr. Cheng Kar Shing (Alias: Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter) (Independent Non-executive Director)

Aged 69. A director of New World Development Company Limited, New World Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Chow 
Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) and New World 
China Land Limited. The deputy managing director of New World Development (China) Ltd. A chairman of Chow 
Tai Fook Charity Foundation. Appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in 1997.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony (Independent Non-executive Director)

Aged 75. A Fellow and a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Has over 40 years of experience in auditing and accounting field. Appointed as an independent 
non-executive director of the Company in 2013 and acts as Chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration 
Committee of the Company.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton (Independent Non-executive Director)

Aged 71. An independent non-executive director of New World Development Company Limited. An executive 
director of Honorway Investments Limited and Tak Hung (Holding) Company Limited. Appointed as a director of 
the Company in 2004 and re-designated as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 29 June 
2012.

Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle (Independent Non-executive Director)

Aged 37. Ms. Hou obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from Abilene Christian University in the 
United States of America in May 2008. She was the deputy art director of the Company from June 2016 to 
February 2020. She worked as a specialist trainee/cataloguer in the jewellery department of Sotheby’s Hong Kong 
Limited from February 2015 to May 2016, and as an analyst in the China investment banking department of 
Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited from July 2008 to August 2011. Ms. Hou had been a non-executive director 
of Grace Wine Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8146), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from July 
2017 to May 2021. Appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 1 April 2022.

Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict (Independent Non-executive Director)

Aged 58. A director and general manager of Myer Jewelry Manufacturer Limited. A member of the Australian 
Society of Certified Practising Accountants. A solicitor of the Supreme Court of New South Wales, Australia, the 
Supreme Court of England and Wales and the High Court of Hong Kong. The Chairman of Kowloon City District 
Office — Area Committee, Hung Hom. The Chairman of Trust Fund Committee of Customs and Excise Service 
Children’s Education Trust Fund of Hong Kong Customs and Excise Department. A Member of Committee of 
Overseers of Wu Yee Sun College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. The President of Kowloon West 
Youth-Care Committee of Hong Kong Police Force. Appointed as a director of the Company in 2006 and 
re-designated as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 29 June 2012.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Sum Mei Lin

Aged 58. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company. She joined the Group in June 2017 and is responsible for 
the Group’s overall management and business development. She has over 30 years of management experience in the 
retail industry. She had worked for luxury brands in LVMH group for 16 years before joining the Group.

Mr. Yee Kwan Yeung

Aged 57. The General Manager of King Fook Jewellery Group Limited. He has extensive management experience in 
the retail industry, specialising in branded watch retailing. He has been with the Group for 39 years.

Ms. Fung Suk Ming

Aged 53. The Chief Financial Officer of the Group. She graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and 
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (Professional Accountancy). She also holds a Master in Science 
degree in Economics from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. She is a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Before joining the Group in January 2019, she had over 25 years of 
experience in treasury and accounting functions in several listed companies and multinational corporations.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), I present the annual report of the Group for the 
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the global economy was adversely affected by COVID-19, which had continued to spread around 
the world. The Russian-Ukrainian war has made the world economy even worse. The global supply chain is affected 
and the rise of raw materials prices leads to serious worldwide inflation. The global economic situation is still full of 
uncertainties.

Although COVID-19 was lingering in Hong Kong in the Year, the epidemic had slowed down in the first three 
quarters and our sales performance had returned to pre-epidemic level. With our continued effort on developing 
local sales and upgrading of our store network, our business achieved a satisfactory growth in the first three 
quarters of the Year.

However, the fifth wave of COVID-19 started in December 2021 was fierce and spread rapidly, infecting many 
people within a short period of time. The Government had to tighten all social distancing measures again to stop the 
spread of COVID-19. This affected our operation as in order to protect our employees and customers, we had to 
shorten our trading hours and some stores were temporarily closed due to lack of manpower or for sanitisation 
purpose. As a consequence, our fourth quarter result was significantly affected; there was a decline of 12% in 
revenue in the last quarter as compared with last year. Despite the disappointing result in the fourth quarter, the 
full year growth in revenue was encouraging at 27.9% year on year.

Moving into 2022, the pandemic, the Russian-Ukrainian war and the global inflation are expected to continue to 
post serious challenges to our business. We will make our best endeavours to keep up business performance 
through improving our service, enriching our product offers, upgrading our store network and strengthen our online 
shopping platform. At the same time, we will also undertake measures on controlling our expenses and improving 
our profit margin.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.6 cents (2021: HK1.0 cent) per ordinary share, 
totalling HK$14.6 million in respect of the Year.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to our customers, 
suppliers, shareholders and business partners for their continuous support and to the management and all the 
employees of the Group for their dedication and hard work.

Tang Yat Sun, Richard
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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GROUP RESULTS OVERVIEW

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”) and the state of affairs of the Group as at 
that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 27 to 85.

For the Year, the Group recorded total revenue of HK$819.1 million, representing an increase of HK$178.5 million 
or 27.9% from HK$640.6 million of last year. The Group achieved a consolidated profit attributable to owners of 
the Company for the Year of HK$60.0 million, which represents an increase of 109.8% as compared to HK$28.6 
million last year. The significant increase in profit was primarily due to the growth in revenue of our retail 
business.

The Group’s distribution and selling costs for the Year increased by 16.2% to HK$122.3 million as compared to 
HK$105.2 million for the previous year. Such increase was mainly attributable to the significant rise in staff costs 
and marketing expenses as a result of our jewellery store network expansion and restart of customer events.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite we were still affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, we managed to increase the revenue of the Group’s retail 
business for the Year by 27.8% to HK$817.4 million from HK$639.6 million for the previous year. Such increase 
was mainly due to the opening of our new jewellery store in Central, strong performance in sales of watches and 
recovery of gold demand in the Year as consumer sentiment improved on stabilisation of the COVID-19 situation in 
Hong Kong before the fifth wave of the pandemic.

The strong performance of our jewellery retail business was due to our long term efforts in strengthening jewellery 
sales. In order to achieve this, we take actions on three areas. Firstly, we have been expanding our jewellery store 
network; three new jewellery stores were opened in the last three years. The last one was opened in October 2021 
in Central. This is the first stand-alone jewellery store with a luxurious VIP area. In addition to high end jewellery, 
this store carries exclusive overseas jewellery brands for VIP customers looking for high quality products. Secondly, 
we have upgraded the system of our customer database and utilise this data base to create different events for 
attracting new customers and retaining existing customers. Last but not least, we focus on improving sales staff’s 
service and client development skill with a view to building a solid client base for our business.

As COVID-19 situation stabilised in the first nine months of the Year, gold purchase for wedding resumed to 
normal level and the rapid increase in inflation also encouraged customers to buy more gold bullion. Our gold 
business achieved positive growth of over 19% in the Year.

Our watch business also achieved significant growth of over 27% in the Year, thanks to the stable supply we 
managed to procure and the effort of our sales team in attracting new customers.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

With the ongoing adverse effects of COVID-19, the Russian-Ukrainian war and the soaring inflation rate, we expect 
many challenges for the current year.

Although we lost the dealership for Rolex and Tudor on 1 April 2022 due to the brands’ new strategy on store 
network, the Group will look for suitable opportunities of partnership with high potential watch brands. We will 
take measures to improve our competitiveness and profitability, including expanding our high end customer base, 
improving our operational efficiencies, investing in our people, developing further our Omni-channel retailing and 
applying stringent control on expenses.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s current assets and current liabilities were approximately HK$782.7 million and 
HK$135.3 million respectively. There were cash and cash equivalents and time deposits of approximately HK$254.5 
million and HK$144.1 million respectively, gold loan of approximately HK$44.0 million, and no bank loan as at that 
date.

Based on the total borrowings of the Group of approximately HK$44.0 million and the equity attributable to owners 
of the Company of approximately HK$707.6 million as at 31 March 2022, the overall borrowings to equity ratio was 
6.2%, which was at a healthy level.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Foreign Exchange Rates

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure regularly and does not consider its foreign currency risk to be 
significant. No financial instrument was used for hedging in the Year.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 March 2022, there was no charge on the Group’s assets.

Capital Expenditure

During the year, the Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately HK$10.4 million, including the costs of 
leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial 
statements. As at 31 March 2022, there were no contingent liabilities or off-balance sheet obligations.

Financial Ratio

A list of key financial ratios is set out in the Five Year Financial Summary on page 87.

INTERNAL CONTROL

BDO Limited has reviewed the Group’s internal control matters relevant to the preparation and the true and fair 
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year as part of its audit work, but its review 
was not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. With the 
assistance of the internal audit department of the Company, the audit committee continually endeavours to identify 
areas for improvement.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group attaches importance to balancing the needs of business development and environmental protection, and 
endeavours to make continuous improvements by different means such as internal training and performance 
evaluations. The Group has established a well-functioning environmental, social and governance reporting system 
and compiles an environmental, social and governance report (“ESG Report”) on an annual basis in order to 
regularly examine and review its environmental protection performance. The Company’s ESG Report for the Year is 
available on the website of the Company at (https://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/kingfook/) under “ESG Reports” section. 
Shareholders may also request printed form of such report by writing to the share registrar of the Company, 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had about 140 employees. The employees (including directors) are remunerated 
according to the nature of their jobs, experience and contribution to the Group. The Group has an incentive bonus 
scheme to reward employees based on their performance. It also provides training programs to employees to 
improve the standard of customer services and for their further advancement.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) would like to present their report together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37 
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
on page 27.

The Board has resolved the payment of an interim dividend of HK0.4 cent per ordinary share of the Company for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK1.6 cents (2021: HK1.0 cent) per ordinary share of the 
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022. The proposed dividend, if approved at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, 5 September 2022, will be payable on Wednesday, 21 September 
2022 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 9 September 
2022.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity on page 30 and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2022 amounted to HK$193,321,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and financial position of the Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 87.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers were 
as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 52%
— 5 largest suppliers combined 82%

Sales
— the largest customer 5%
— 5 largest customers combined 10%

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders (who to the knowledge of the Board owns more 
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in any of the major suppliers or customers noted 
above.



 9 KING FOOK HOLDINGS LIMITED

 Report of the Directors (Continued) 

Annual Report 2022

DIRECTORS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Name of directors

Executive directors
Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard (Chairman of the Board)
Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick
Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin

Non-executive director
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter
Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony
Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton
Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle (appointed on 1 April 2022)
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict

Brief biographical details of the directors are set out on pages 3 and 4.

The Company confirms that it has received letters of confirmation of independence from all of the independent 
non-executive directors in accordance with rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and considers that all the independent non-executive directors 
are independent.

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within 1 
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation. The Company had not entered into any 
contract nor had any existing contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of any business of the Company during the year.

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard, Mr. Ho Hau 
Hay, Hamilton and Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin will retire by rotation at the coming annual general meeting of the 
Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. In accordance with article 99 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association, Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, has 
offered herself for re-election. Details of such directors as required under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules are as 
follows:

Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard, aged 69, is the Chairman and an executive director of the Company and the chairman 
of the Nomination Committee of the Company, and an executive director of King Fook Jewellery Group Limited and 
King Fook Gold & Jewellery Company Limited, two wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. He is an executive 
director of Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited and has been an independent non-executive director of 
The Wharf (Holdings) Limited since January 2021 (both of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange). He was formerly an Independent Non-executive Director of Wheelock and Company Limited until its 
delisting from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in July 2020. He is the chairman and managing director of 
Richcom Company Limited and a director of various private business enterprises, an advisor of Tang Shiu Kin and 
Ho Tim Charitable Fund and a steward of The Hong Kong Jockey Club. Mr. Tang has no relationship with any 
directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. He has a personal interest 
and a corporate interest in 7,528,500 shares and 31,571,400 shares of the Company respectively within the meaning 
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). He was appointed as a director, the vice chairman 
and acting chairman of the Company in 1987, 1998 and 2016 respectively, and as the Chairman of the Company 
on 20 March 2017.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton, aged 71, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Ho is an 
independent non-executive director of New World Development Company Limited, a company listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange. He is an executive director of Honorway Investments Limited and Tak Hung 
(Holding) Company Limited (“Tak Hung”). Mr. Ho has no relationship with any directors, senior management or 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. He is deemed to be interested in 6,657,000 shares of the 
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, such shares being held by Tak Hung in which he has a 40% 
interest. He was appointed as a director of the Company in 2004 and re-designated as an independent 
non-executive director of the Company on 29 June 2012.

Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin, aged 80, is an executive director of the Company. He is a director of Citizen 
Thunderbird Travel Limited. He has no interest in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO. He was appointed as a director of the Company in 2000 and re-designated as an executive director of the 
Company on 26 November 2020. Mr. Wong is the husband of a shareholder and director of Yeung Chi Shing 
Estates Limited (“YCSEL”), the controlling shareholder of the Company. 

Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle, aged 37, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. She was the deputy 
art director of the Company from June 2016 to February 2020. She worked as a specialist trainee/cataloguer in the 
jewellery department of Sotheby’s Hong Kong Limited from February 2015 to May 2016, and as an analyst in the 
China investment banking department of Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited from July 2008 to August 2011. 
Ms. Hou had been a non-executive director of Grace Wine Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8146), a company listed 
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, from July 2017 to May 2021. She has no interest in the 
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. She was appointed as an independent 
non-executive director of the Company on 1 April 2022.

The above retiring directors do not have any service contract with the Company. They are not appointed for a 
specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years in accordance with the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

The remuneration of these directors are subject to the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee from time to 
time, and information on their remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out in note 14 headed 
“Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments and material interests of directors in transactions, arrangements and 
contracts” to the consolidated financial statements. The remuneration of Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard and Mr. Wong 
Wei Ping, Martin are determined with reference to their respective contributions to the Group.

The above retiring directors confirm that save as disclosed above, there is no information which is required to be 
disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and there is no other matters that need to be brought to the 
attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton and Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle, both being independent non-executive directors of the 
Company, are eligible for re-election at the AGM and have made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant 
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton has served as an independent non-executive director of the Company for more than 9 
years. The Board considers that he is still independent as he complies with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and acts 
independently in the discharge of his duty to the Company. Further, Mr. Ho brings to the Board his extensive 
business experience in various sectors. He has demonstrated his abilities to provide independent views to the 
Company’s matters. The Board is satisfied that he has the required integrity, skills and experience to continuing 
fulfilling the role of independent non-executive director, and that his long service on the Board would not affect his 
exercise of independent judgement and thus recommend him for re-election at the AGM so that the Company can 
continue to benefit from his experiences and contribution to the diversity of the Board as described above.

Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle contributes to the diversity of the Board as a female director and brings to the Board her 
perspectives, skills and experience gained in working in a range of business.

A list of names of the directors who held office in the Company’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of 
this report is kept at the Company’s registered office and made available for inspection by the members free of 
charge during business hours.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests of the directors of the Company in the share capital of the Company as recorded 
in the register maintained by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares held Percentage of 
shareholdingName of directors Personal Corporate Trust Total

Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard 7,528,500 #31,571,400 Nil 39,099,900 4.29%
Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton Nil *6,657,000 Nil 6,657,000 0.73%
Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick Nil Nil ^5,856,517 5,856,517 0.64%

# These shares were held by Daily Moon Investments Limited (“Daily Moon”). As Mr. Tang has a 100% interest in Daily Moon, he is deemed 
to be interested in all these shares held by Daily Moon.

* These shares were held by Tak Hung (Holding) Co. Ltd. (“Tak Hung”). As Mr. Ho has a 40% interest in Tak Hung, he is deemed to be 
interested in all these shares held by Tak Hung.

^ Dr. Fung is deemed to be interested in these shares held by The Ng Yip Shing Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors or chief executive of the Company had any 
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under 
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code.

Save as disclosed below, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company or any entity connected with a director (has the 
meaning given by section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year:

1. The Group (as tenant) entered into various tenancy agreements on normal commercial terms with Stanwick 
Properties Limited (“Stanwick”) (as landlord) (a wholly owned subsidiary of YCSEL, the controlling 
shareholder of the Company) on 7 August 2019 and 11 August 2021 respectively in respect of premises in 
King Fook Building, 30–32 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong for a term of 2 years from 16 August 2019 
to 15 August 2021 and 16 August 2021 to 15 August 2023 respectively at the total monthly rent of 
HK$999,580 and HK$844,400 respectively, exclusive of management fees and air-conditioning charges and 
Government rates. The management fees and air-conditioning charges are HK$91,350 per month. The leased 
properties are used as the key retail outlet and the headquarters of the Group.

The Group entered into 2 separate agreements with Stanwick pursuant to which the Company is granted the 
right to use the furniture and fixture at 3rd Floor of King Fook Building (which is used by the Group as 
conference room) for a term of 2 years from 16 August 2019 to 15 August 2021 and 16 August 2021 to 15 
August 2023 respectively at the monthly fee of HK$25,480. Further, since 16 August 2021, telephone sets 
charges per month payable by the Group to the landlord is HK$27,200 (80 sets for HK$340 each per month), 
and additional telephone set/socket will be charged at HK$340 per unit per month.

2. The Company entered into a licence agreement dated 7 December 1998 (the “Licence Agreement”) with YCSEL 
pursuant to which the Company is granted an exclusive right for the design, manufacture and distribution of 
gold and jewellery products under the trademark of “King Fook” on a worldwide basis for a total 
consideration of HK$1. The Licence Agreement commenced from 7 December 1998 and may be terminated by 
any party by giving 3 months’ written notice to the other party.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance between the Group and a controlling shareholder of the 
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, including for the provision of services to the 
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Set out below is information disclosed pursuant to rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter, an independent non-executive director of the Company, is a director of Chow Tai Fook 
Enterprises Limited. The gold ornament, jewellery and watch retail business of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited 
and its subsidiaries (“Chow Tai Fook Group”) may compete with similar business of the Group.

Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict, an independent non-executive director of the Company, is a director and general 
manager of Myer Jewelry Manufacturer Limited. The manufacturing and trading of fine and costume jewellery 
business of Myer Jewelry Manufacturer Limited and its subsidiaries (“Myer Group”) may compete with similar 
business of the Group.

The Group has experienced senior management independent of the above-named directors to conduct its business 
and is therefore capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from the respective 
businesses of Chow Tai Fook Group and Myer Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 March 2022, the following person (other than a director or chief executive of the Company) had interest in 
shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital, as recorded in the register of 
substantial shareholders required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder
Number of  

ordinary shares held Nature of interest

Approximate 
percentage of total 

issued share capital

Yeung Chi Shing Estates Limited 554,624,457 Beneficial owner 60.84%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, according to the register of interests required to be kept by the 
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares 
or underlying shares of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that a director or former director of the Company may be 
indemnified out of the Company’s assets against any liability incurred by the director to a person (other than the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries) in connection with any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in 
relation to the Company or any of its subsidiaries (as the case may be) as provided under the Companies 
Ordinance. The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year to protect the 
Group’s directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against them.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the period from 1 April 2021 to 22 April 2021, the Company repurchased a total of 550,000 ordinary shares 
on the Stock Exchange at the total price of HK$177,000. Save as aforesaid, neither the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of directors and senior management for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in 
notes 14, 15 and 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Details on the analysis of the Group’s performance during the year under review and the material factors underlying 
its results and financial position are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Board, not less than 25% 
of the issued share capital of the Company is held by the public.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been audited by BDO Limited 
(“BDO”). A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to re-appoint BDO as auditor of 
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Yat Sun, Richard
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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References to code provision numbers of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) in this Report are to 
those contained in the Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as at 31 December 2021, which 
since have been amended with effect on 1 January 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard corporate governance practices. It met all the code 
provisions in the Code for the year ended 31 March 2022 except the deviations as explained below:

Code provision A.4.1

The non-executive directors of the Company were not appointed for a specific term as required under code 
provision A.4.1 of the Code, but each of them is subject to retirement by rotation at annual general meeting 
(“AGM”) of the Company at least once every 3 years in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. 
The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election. This requirement was removed on 1 January 2022.

Code provisions A.5.1 to A.5.4

In respect of code provisions A.5.1 to A.5.4 of the Code, the Company had not established a nomination committee 
up to 31 December 2021 as the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) consider that given the structure of 
the Board and the business operations of the Group, all directors of the Company should be involved in performing 
the duties set out in such code provisions. In compliance with the amended Listing Rules, the Company has 
established a nomination committee with effect on 1 January 2022.

Code provision D.1.4

As far as code provision D.1.4 of the Code was concerned, the Company does not have formal letters of 
appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment. The Board decides on the 
key terms and conditions of the appointment of the directors of the Company from time to time which are recorded 
in the relevant board minutes.

Code provision E.1.5

In respect of code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the Company did not have a policy on payment of dividends or any 
pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The Board will decide on the declaration/recommendation of any future 
dividends after taking into consideration a number of factors, including the prevailing market conditions, the 
Company’s operating results, business plans and prospects, financial position and working capital requirements, and 
other factors that the Board considers relevant.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) contained in appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding its directors’ securities 
transactions. The Company has also adopted the practice to remind all directors of the Company the commencement 
of each period during which they are not allowed to deal in the securities of the Company under the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, they have confirmed compliance with the required 
standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31 March 
2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. 
The directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising the 
Group’s affairs covering the Group’s overall strategy, annual and interim results, major acquisitions and disposals, 
recommendations on directors’ appointment or reappointment and other significant operational and financial 
matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is responsible for ensuring the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the 
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget. 
It has delegated such responsibility to the Audit Committee.

Decisions and directions of the Board are carried out and implemented by the management of the Company, which 
reports directly to the chief executive and/or the Executive Committee of directors so as to assist the directors to 
promote the success of the Group. All directors of the Company are well informed in a timely manner of major 
changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules and regulations. Management monthly 
updates to the Board have been provided to all directors of the Company so as to enable them to discharge their 
duties. Written procedures are also in place for all directors of the Company to take independent professional advice 
where necessary in order to perform their duties at the expense of the Company.

All directors of the Company are given the opportunity to put items on the agenda for regular Board meetings. All 
directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) 
to ensure that all Board procedures as well as rules and regulations are followed. Full minutes of Board meetings are 
kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection by any director on reasonable notice.

During the year, the Board had complied with rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment 
of at least 3 independent non-executive directors (representing at least one-third of the Board) and 1 of the 
independent non-executive directors has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. Each of the independent non-executive directors has made an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent 
non-executive directors meet the independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are 
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Board held 5 board meetings and an AGM during the year ended 31 March 2022. The Board’s composition and 
the attendances of individual directors at these meetings were as follows:

Name of directors

Board Meetings 
and attendances 

during term  
of service AGM

Executive directors
Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard (Chairman of the Board) 5/5 1/1
Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick 5/5 1/1
Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin 5/5 1/1

Non-executive director
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles 5/5 1/1

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter 4/5 1/1
Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony 5/5 1/1
Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton 5/5 1/1
Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle (appointed on 1 April 2022) N/A N/A
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict 5/5 1/1

Details of the directors are disclosed in the section headed “Brief Biographical Details of the Directors and the Senior 
Management” on pages 3 and 4.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

In compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 
2022 had participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, 
detailed as below:

Name
Attend seminars and/or 

training programmes Reading materials

Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard (Chairman of the Board)  
Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick  
Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin  
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles  
Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter  
Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony  
Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton  
Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle (appointed on 1 April 2022) N/A N/A
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict  

The Company arranged and funded 2 training programmes. Some of the directors participated in continuous 
professional development programmes organised by other organisations. The Company Secretary also provides the 
directors with relevant reading materials from time to time. The Company Secretary has duly complied with the 
relevant training requirement under rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in taking not less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training during the year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CHIEF EXECUTIVE)

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (Chief Executive) of the Company are separated, with a 
clear division of responsibilities. The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Tang Yat 
Sun, Richard and Ms. Sum Mei Lin respectively.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and 
for setting agenda of Board meetings and taking into account any matters proposed by other directors for inclusion 
in the agenda. Through the Board, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that good corporate governance 
practices and procedures are followed by the Group. The Chairman is also responsible for the strategic planning of 
the Group.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business (including 
monitoring the Group’s operational and financial performance) and implementation of the directions of the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term but each of them is subject to 
retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s AGM at least once every 3 years in accordance with the 
Articles of Association of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee had 2 members, comprising Mr. Cheng Kwok 
Shing, Anthony and Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter (both independent non-executive directors). The chairman of this 
Committee is Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee follow the 
guidelines set out in the Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year. All members attended the meeting.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and approved the Group’s remuneration policy and made 
recommendations to the Board on the levels of remuneration paid to the executive directors and the senior 
management of the Group. It has considered factors such as the performance of the executive directors and the 
senior management, the profitability of the Group, salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and 
responsibilities. It aims to ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and motivate a high-calibre team which is 
essential to the success of the Group.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Up to 31 December 2021, the Board had not established a Nomination Committee pursuant to code provision A.5.1 
of the Code as it considered that all directors should be involved in performing the duties set out in the Code. Then 
the executive directors identified potential new directors and recommended to the Board for decision.

In compliance with the amended Listing Rules, the Company has established a Nomination Committee with effect 
on 1 January 2022. This Committee had 3 members, comprising Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard (the Chairman of the 
Board), Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter and Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict (both independent non-executive directors). The 
chairman of this Committee is Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee 
follow the guidelines set out in the Code.

The Nomination Committee met twice during the year. All members attended the meetings.

Members of the Nomination Committee identify potential new directors and recommend to the Board for decision. A 
director appointed by the Board is subject to election by the shareholders of the Company at the first AGM after 
his/her appointment.

Potential new directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity which 
the Board considers will make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.

Ms. Hou Tan Tan Danielle was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 1 April 2022.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a diversity policy, which was updated on 23 March 2022 to achieve diversity of Board 
members through consideration of relevant factors, including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and 
educational background, skill, knowledge, or professional/business experience to ensure the Board has an 
appropriate diversity of talents to contribute to the business of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has adopted terms of reference for corporate governance functions set out in the Code and is responsible 
for performing the corporate governance duties set out therein. It determines the policies and practices on the 
corporate governance of the Company to comply with legal and regulatory requirements. The Board has reviewed 
and monitored the training and continuous professional development of the directors and senior management of the 
Company as well as the code of conduct applicable to the directors of the Company during the year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company. As at 
31 March 2022, the directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may 
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the directors have 
prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going-concern basis.

The responsibilities of the Company’s auditor about its financial reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s 
Report attached to the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Risk management and internal control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
(the “Systems”) and reviewing their effectiveness. This responsibility is primarily undertaken by the Audit Committee 
on its behalf as mentioned below. As business operations involve inherent risks, the Systems of the Group are 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had complied with the risk management and internal control 
code provisions of the Code.

The Company’s Internal Audit Department performs internal audit function by carrying out the analysis and 
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Systems of the Group.

As a result of the review by the Audit Committee, the Board confirms, and management has also confirmed to the 
Board, that the Systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

Details of the Systems, structures and policies of the Group’s risk management and internal control are set out in the 
“Risk Management and Internal Control Report” of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the auditor, BDO Limited, for audit services was approximately 
HK$795,000 (2021: HK$760,000) and for non-audit service was approximately HK$188,000 (2021: HK$182,000).

The significant non-audit service assignment covered by these fees include the following:

Nature of service Fee paid

Interim review HK$175,000

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee had 3 members, comprising Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, 
Anthony and Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict (both independent non-executive directors) and Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles 
(a non-executive director). The chairman of this Committee is Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines set out in the Code. The primary duties of the Audit 
Committee include the review of the Group’s interim and annual financial reports, and the nature and scope of the 
external and internal audits including review of the effectiveness of the Systems. The Audit Committee is also 
responsible for making recommendation in relation to the appointment, reappointment and removal of auditor, and 
reviews and monitors the auditor’s independence and objectivity. In addition, the Audit Committee discusses matters 
raised by the auditor to ensure that appropriate recommendations are implemented.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

With the assistance of the Internal Audit Department, the Audit Committee had reviewed internal control matters 
relating to key business of the Group during the year with the aim to identify areas for improvement. It had also 
conducted on behalf of the Board a review of the effectiveness of the Systems covering all materials control, 
including financial, operational and compliance control annually. Based on the review reports of the Internal Audit 
Department, the Audit Committee assessed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of 
the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget 
and was satisfied with the results. The result has been reported to the Board. Areas for improvement have been 
identified and appropriate measures taken.

During the year, the Audit Committee had also reviewed with the management the accounting principles and 
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing and financial reporting matters, including review of the 
Company’s interim and annual financial statements before submission to the Board. The Group’s financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the opinion that such 
financial statements comply with applicable accounting standards and legal requirements, and that adequate 
disclosures have been made.

The Audit Committee met 3 times during the year ended 31 March 2022. All members attended the meetings.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with its shareholders through annual reports, interim reports, announcements and 
circulars issued by the Company from time to time. Shareholders may put enquiries to the Board in writing sent to 
the Company’s registered office at 9th Floor, King Fook Building, 30–32 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong and 
the Company will respond to enquiries from shareholders promptly. Shareholders may also visit the Company’s 
website (https://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/kingfook/) for information about the Group and its activities. All 
shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings of the Company to discuss matters relating to the Group. At 
general meetings of the Company, the directors answer questions from the shareholders.

The Company held an AGM on 9 September 2021 (the “Meeting”), which provided opportunities for communication 
between the shareholders and the Board at which all the then Board members had attended. Details of the 
procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the commencement of the Meetings. In accordance with the 
Listing Rules, voting of shareholders at the Meeting was taken by poll and the poll results were announced at the 
Meeting and published on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company respectively 
after the Meeting. A separate resolution was proposed at each of the Meetings on each substantial issue, including 
the re-election of each director.

Pursuant to article 72 of the Company’s Articles of Association and section 566 of the Companies Ordinance 
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), shareholders representing at least 5% of the 
total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company shall have the 
right to request the directors of the Company to call a general meeting of the Company by sending a request 
authenticated by the person(s) making it to the Company in hard copy or electronic form stating the general nature 
of the business to be dealt with at such meeting, including election of director(s). If within 21 days after the date 
the directors become required to call a general meeting they fail to proceed to convene such meeting for a day not 
more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting, the shareholder(s) who requested the 
meeting, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves 
call a general meeting in accordance with the provisions of section 568 of the Companies Ordinance.

Constitutional documents

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no amendment had been made to the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Group has been continuously enhancing its risk management and internal control systems. During the year 
ended 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), the Group engaged an external consultant to review our risk 
management framework, including the risk governance structure and the risk management policy; and to facilitate, 
coordinate and support the risk management process. We highlight the key features of our structured risk 
management approach as follows:

I. RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group’s risk management framework is guided by the “Three Lines of Defense” model as shown below:

 Board of Directors (the “Board”)

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is 
willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic business objectives, determining the Group’s risk acceptance 
levels, and ensuring the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and 
internal controls systems.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and review of 
their effectiveness.

 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, acting on behalf of the Board, is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems. It conducts on behalf of the Board a review of the effectiveness of 
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering key controls, including financial, 
operational, compliance and human resources controls 3 times a year by discussing with management the risk 
management and internal control systems to ensure effective systems are in place, including consideration on 
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting 
and internal audit functions, and their training programs and budget.

 Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee, comprising both financial and operational executives of the Group, is 
responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal control systems for 
approval by the Board and to report to the Audit Committee and the Board on the Group’s risk-related 
matters. Department heads are directed to implement the systems approved by the Board.

 First line of defense

At the first line of defense, business units and departments of the Group, as the risk owners, are responsible 
for identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring risks associated with each business operation.

 Second line of defense

The Risk Management Committee, as the second line of defense, is responsible for assessing relevant risks and 
carrying out necessary control activities, exercising appropriate supervision to ensure the effectiveness and 
efficiency of control over activities within and between different departments, and assessing and presenting 
regular reports to the Audit Committee and the Board.

The external consultant serves as the risk management coordinator of the Group, with responsibility to 
facilitate, coordinate and support the risk management process, update and maintain the risk management 
deliverables based on the results of discussions with the Risk Management Committee and risk owners, and 
performing testing on mitigation actions of top risks identified.

 Third line of defense

As the third line of defense, the Internal Audit Department of the Company performs internal audit work to 
ensure that the first and second lines of defense are effective. It provides independent assurance to the Audit 
Committee and the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group.
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II. RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

During the Reporting Period, the Group uses a blended top-down and bottom-up approach for identifying 
risks. Sources of risk, areas of impact, events and their potential consequences are identified. A risk universe 
has been created to ensure the entire spectrum of risks are captured. The identified risks are categorised into 
“Financial”, “Operational”, “Compliance”, “Human Resources” and “Reputation” respectively.

The Group uses a 5-by-5 risk matrix to assess risks. The risk rating is scored in terms of the consequence and 
likelihood of occurrence. Risks are rated according to their residual risk levels. Residual risk levels refer to the 
scoring of risks which exist, taking into account all existing controls. The result from the risk analysis is 
evaluated to determine whether or not identified risks are within predefined risk acceptance levels.

Based on the risk evaluation, risks are transferred, eliminated or effectively controlled through proposed risk 
mitigation measures. Each proposed risk mitigation measure has a designated risk owner and an expected 
completion date assigned to ensure accountability for risk mitigation, which is documented in the top risk 
record of the Group.

III. RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

Risk owners are responsible for aggregating their respective risks on a quarterly basis. The Risk Management 
Committee meets quarterly to evaluate the top risks identified and other risks that may escalate as deemed 
necessary and are to be defined by the respective business units or departments or risk owners. The status of 
top risk changes (if any), key risk indicators and the respective mitigation actions are reported during the 
Audit Committee and the Board meetings.

When senior management/department head/risk owner identifies risk from daily operations or changes in the 
business environment, or the key risk indicators exceed the threshold for early warning signals, which 
potentially leads to high risk exposure, the risk will be brought to the attention of the Risk Management 
Committee for assessment of the potential risk exposure and evaluation whether additional measures should be 
in-place to mitigate the risk in a timely manner. As appropriate, the respective risk assessment and mitigation 
actions will be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee and the Board.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The main objectives of the internal control system of the Group are to ensure effective and efficient operations, 
reliable financial reporting, compliance with applicable laws and regulations and a sound risk management system. 
The components and features of this system cover control environment, risk assessment, control activities, 
information and communication, and monitoring.

The key activities and associated processes of the internal control system of the Group are as follows:

• Conduct internal control self-assessment semi-annually;

• Review the departmental internal control and policies and procedures of the system periodically;

• Maintain an appropriate organisational and governance structure;

• Monitor and control the operational and financial budgeting and forecasting systems closely;

• Set up the whistle-blowing system to provide channel for reporting any possible misconducts in the Group;

• Review the inside information policies and procedures periodically; and

• The Internal Audit Department and an external consultant assist to achieve the objectives of the internal control 
system.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit Department plays an important role in providing an independent appraisal and assurance to the 
Audit Committee (acting on behalf of the Board) that sound risk management and internal control systems are 
maintained. During the Reporting Period, the Internal Audit Department performed various risk assessment exercises 
and risk based audit assignments. Through different reports and meetings, significant risks or internal control issues 
were discussed and addressed to the management and the Audit Committee respectively. The significant deficiencies 
identified have been managed or in the progress of following up by the management. The Audit Committee and the 
Board are satisfied that there are adequate risk management and internal control systems in the Company.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives. They play a key role in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of 
business objectives. The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance of the Company’s external 
consultant, conducted risk management reviews of the business operations for the Reporting Period and considered 
these systems to be effective and adequate during the Reporting Period. The management provided a confirmation 
semi-annually to the Board on the effectiveness of these systems for the Reporting Period.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has a policy with regard to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the inside 
information of the Company in compliance with the requirements under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (Cap 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information, which 
includes:

• designated reporting channel from relevant officers in possession of potential inside information informing such 
information to the designated persons;

• designated persons to assess the potential inside information and provide advice, and where appropriate, to 
bring such information to the attention of the Board to resolve on further actions complying with applicable 
laws and regulations; and

• restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF KING FOOK HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of King Fook Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 27 to 85, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Inventory provision

(Refer to notes 2.15, 3(v) and 22 to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had inventories of approximately HK$369,722,000 which mainly consisted of 
jewellery, gold ornament and bullion, watch and gift. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the associated provision 
for and write down of inventories was approximately HK$16,675,000. Management has made estimates based on 
certain assumptions related to obsolete and out-dated inventories.

The considerations of an appropriate level of provision for obsolete and out-dated inventories included inventory 
ageing, condition of inventories, historical and current sales information, as well as different market factors 
impacting the selling price of these inventories. In addition, the determination of provision on the aged and 
out-dated inventories as a result of changed prevailing market conditions, requires an exercise of significant 
judgement of management based on historical experience.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Inventory provision (Continued)

Accordingly, the provisions carried against inventory are considered to be a key audit matter.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to inventory provision included:

• Understanding and evaluating the Group’s provision policy on inventories and basis of the assessment;

• Reviewing and assessing obsolete or out-dated inventories identified by management and estimation of the net 
realisable value of these inventories;

• Evaluating historical accuracy of inventory provisioning by comparing historical provision made to the loss 
incurred for actual sales;

• Reviewing inventory ageing analysis and analysing the level of aged inventory and their associated provisions;

• Testing the carrying amount of aged and obsolete inventories on a sample basis to the source documents; and

• Reviewing and evaluating net realisable value of inventories, with reference to subsequent sales information and 
the external price data and performed testing on a sample basis, by tracing to the source documents.

Other information in the annual report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee 
assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.



 26 KING FOOK HOLDINGS LIMITED

 Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued) 

Annual Report 2022

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chow Tak Sing, Peter
Practising Certificate Number P04659

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 819,150 640,630
Cost of sales (584,957) (457,534)

Gross profit 234,193 183,096
Other operating income 6 3,368 9,922
Distribution and selling costs (122,338) (105,239)
Administrative expenses (44,666) (41,235)
Other operating expenses 7 (4,652) (11,456)

Operating profit 65,905 35,088
Finance costs 8 (5,865) (6,478)

Profit before taxation 9 60,040 28,610
Taxation 10 — —

Profit for the year 60,040 28,610

Other comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 345 819

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments at fair value  

through other comprehensive income (390) (1,778)

Other comprehensive income for the year (45) (959)

Total comprehensive income for the year 59,995 27,651

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company 60,050 28,615
— Non-controlling interests (10) (5)

60,040 28,610

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company 60,005 27,656
— Non-controlling interests (10) (5)

59,995 27,651

HK cents HK cents

Earnings per share 12
— Basic and diluted 6.59 3.13
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As at 31 March 2022

As at  
31 March  

2022

As at  
31 March  

2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 9,628 2,365
Right-of-use assets 17 53,057 74,172
Investment properties 18 888 959
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 19 771 1,229
Other asset 20 356 356
Deposits 21 15,898 13,267

80,598 92,348

Current assets
Inventories 22 369,722 415,217
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 21 14,198 16,288
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 23 151 159
Time deposits 24 144,100 88,127
Cash and cash equivalents 25 254,519 209,270

782,690 729,061

Total assets 863,288 821,409

Current liabilities
Trade payables, deposits received and other payables 26 40,461 35,310
Gold loan 27 44,045 32,714
Lease liabilities 17 50,797 43,298

135,303 111,322

Net current assets 647,387 617,739

Total assets less current liabilities 727,985 710,087

Non-current liabilities
Provision for long service payments 28 55 38
Lease liabilities 17 20,244 49,410

20,299 49,448

Net assets 707,686 660,639
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As at 31 March 2022

As at  
31 March  

2022

As at  
31 March  

2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 29 393,354 393,354
Other reserves 30 35,645 35,698
Retained profits 30 278,595 231,485

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 707,594 660,537
Non-controlling interests 92 102

Total equity 707,686 660,639

The consolidated financial statements on pages 27 to 85 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 24 June 2022 and were signed by:

Tang Yat Sun, Richard Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick
Chairman Director
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Share  
capital

Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Investments  
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 
income reserve

Retained 
profits Total

(note 29(a)) (note 30)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2020 393,354 24,753 9,346 2,558 205,376 635,387 107 635,494

2019/20 final dividend (note 11) — — — — (1,827) (1,827) — (1,827)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note 29(b)) — — — — (679) (679) — (679)

Transactions with owners — — — — (2,506) (2,506) — (2,506)

Profit for the year — — — — 28,615 28,615 (5) 28,610

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations — — 819 — — 819 — 819
Change in fair value of investments at  

fair value through other comprehensive 
income — — — (1,778) — (1,778) — (1,778)

Other comprehensive income for the year — — 819 (1,778) — (959) — (959)

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 819 (1,778) 28,615 27,656 (5) 27,651

At 31 March 2021 393,354 24,753 10,165 780 231,485 660,537 102 660,639

At 1 April 2021 393,354 24,753 10,165 780 231,485 660,537 102 660,639

2020/21 final dividend (note 11) — — — — (9,117) (9,117) — (9,117)
2021/22 interim dividend (note 11) — — — — (3,647) (3,647) — (3,647)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note 29(b)) — — — — (184) (184) — (184)

Transactions with owners — — — — (12,948) (12,948) — (12,948)

Profit for the year — — — — 60,050 60,050 (10) 60,040

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations — — 345 — — 345 — 345
Change in fair value of investments at  

fair value through other comprehensive 
income — — — (390) — (390) — (390)

Transfer upon disposal — — — (8) 8 — — —

Other comprehensive income for the year — — 345 (398) 8 (45) — (45)

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 345 (398) 60,058 60,005 (10) 59,995

At 31 March 2022 393,354 24,753 10,510 382 278,595 707,594 92 707,686
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating profit before working capital changes 31(a) 125,813 97,437
Decrease in inventories 41,047 51,731
(Increase)/decrease in debtors, deposits and prepayments (603) 3,630
Increase in trade payables, deposits received and other payables 4,710 6,377

Net cash generated from operations 170,967 159,175
Dividends received from investments at fair value through  

profit or loss 8 7
Interest received 1,492 2,451

Net cash generated from operating activities 172,467 161,633

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividends received from investments at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 33 —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,440) (5,069)
Placement of time deposits with maturity over 3 months (431,300) (163,225)
Release of time deposits with maturity over 3 months 375,327 76,612
Proceeds from disposal of investments at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 68 —

Net cash used in investing activities (66,312) (91,682)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 31(b)
Dividends paid (12,770) (1,821)
Proceeds from gold loan 10,249 4,032
Repayment of gold loan (4,116) (3,697)
Payment of repurchase of ordinary shares (193) (670)
Payment of principal element of lease liabilities (48,493) (46,446)
Interest paid on gold loan (1,184) (1,291)
Payment of interest element of lease liabilities (4,394) (5,182)

Net cash used in financing activities (60,901) (55,075)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 45,254 14,876
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 209,270 194,292
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes, net (5) 102

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 254,519 209,270

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 53,176 86,982
Cash at a financial institution 287 458
Short term bank deposits with maturity within 3 months 201,056 121,830

254,519 209,270
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

King Fook Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in 
Hong Kong. Its registered office is located at 9th Floor, King Fook Building, 30–32 Des Voeux Road Central, 
Hong Kong and its principal place of business is in Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main 
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The directors of the Company 
consider the ultimate holding company to be Yeung Chi Shing Estates Limited (“YCSEL”), a company 
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the place of operation and the 
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements on pages 27 to 85 have been prepared in accordance with Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual 
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), the applicable disclosure requirements of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and have been 
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or revised HKFRSs are disclosed in note 2.2.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for gold 
bullion stocks held for trading, gold loan and financial instruments classified as fair value through profit 
or loss (“FVTPL”) and fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) which are stated at 
fair values. The measurement basis are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new or revised HKFRSs issued 
by the HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 
the annual period beginning on 1 April 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HKAS 39,  

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,  
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The adoption of these new or revised HKFRSs has no significant impact on the Group’s accounting 
policies.

2.3 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

Annual Improvements to  
HKFRSs 2018–2020

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards, HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 
HKAS 41 Agriculture and Illustrative Examples accompanying 
HKFRS 16 Leases1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use1

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK 
Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of Financial Statements 
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a 
Repayment on Demand Clause3

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies3

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual period  

 beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020: Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, HKAS 41 Agriculture 
and Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16 Leases

The annual improvements amend a number of standards, including:

• HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards  (“HKFRS 1”), which 
permit a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation 
differences using the amounts reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to 
HKFRSs.

• HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments  (“HKFRS 9”), which clarify the fees included in the ‘10 per cent’ 
test in paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial liability, 
explaining that only fees paid or received between the entity and the lender, including fees paid or 
received by either the entity or the lender on other’s behalf are included.

• HKFRS 16, Leases , which amend Illustrative Example 13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement 
of leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to resolve any potential confusion regarding the 
treatment of lease incentives that might arise because of how lease incentives are illustrated in that 
example.

• HKAS 41, Agriculture , which remove the requirement to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring 
the fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any 
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, the proceeds from 
selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the “cost of fulfilling a contract” comprises the “costs that relate directly to 
the contract”. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that 
contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling 
contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment 
used in fulfilling the contract).

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement 
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets  (“HKAS 37”), an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present 
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of HK (IFRIC) — 
Interpretation 21, Levies  (“HK (IFRIC)-Int 21”), the acquirer applies HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine 
whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition 
date. The amendments also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent 
assets acquired in a business combination.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 
5 (2020), Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan 
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights 
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by 
expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain 
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period. The 
amendments also introduce a definition of “settlement” to make clear that settlement refers to the 
transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a 
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause  (“HK Int 5 (2020)”), was revised in October 
2020 as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current and HK Int 5 (2020)  (“Amendments to HKAS 1”), issued in August 2020. The revision to 
HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 
with no change in conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates , clarify how companies should 
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. That distinction is 
important because changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively only to future transactions 
and other future events, but changes in accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to 
past transactions and other past events.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies were issued following feedback that more guidance 
was needed to help companies decide what accounting policy information should be disclosed. The 
amendments to HKAS 1 require companies to disclose their material accounting policy information rather 
than their significant accounting policies. The amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide 
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction

The amendments clarify that the recognition exemption does not apply to transactions such as leases and 
decommissioning obligations that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in 
the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the 
Group’s accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combination

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (see note 2.5 below) made up to 31 March for each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
excluded from consolidation from the date that control ceases. The results of the subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of the disposal, as 
appropriate.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gain and loss on transactions between group companies 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised loss on intra-group 
asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the 
Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in capital and reserves and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combination (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of 
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and 
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be 
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present 
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such 
non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in capital and reserves. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this results in those non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

2.5 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls 
an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable 
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in 
any of these elements of control.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of financial position, at cost less any 
impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group. The results of the 
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the 
functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gain 
and loss resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the end of reporting period 
re-translation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not re-translated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations, 
originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been converted 
into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the end of reporting 
period. Income and expenses have been converted into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the 
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do 
not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in capital and reserves.

When a foreign operation is disposed, such accumulated exchange differences are reclassified from 
capital and reserves to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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2.7 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to 
the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods or 
services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or services is 
transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

• provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

• creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right 
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the 
contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. 
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods or 
service.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customers a significant benefit of 
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customers for more than one year, revenue is measured 
at the present value of the amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be 
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customers at contract inception. 
Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the 
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest charge accreted on the contract 
liabilities under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment and 
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted 
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers .

(i) Gold ornament, jewellery, watch and gift retailing, bullion trading and diamond wholesaling

Customers obtain control of the goods when the goods are delivered to and have been accepted. 
Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers accepted the goods. There is generally only 
one performance obligation. Invoices are usually payable upon transfer of control of goods.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers on sales of certain jewellery products provide a right 
of return (a right to exchange another product) to customers. These rights of return allow the 
returned goods to be refunded in cash or other goods with equivalent values. Right of return gives 
rise to variable consideration. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and 
constrained until the associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The application of the 
constraint on variable consideration increases the amount of revenue that will be deferred. In 
addition, a refund liability and a right to recover returned goods assets are recognised.

The Group launches a customer loyalty program, which allows customers to redeem the award 
credits for gifts or cash coupons before a specified period of time. An option to acquire additional 
goods or services gives rise to a separate performance obligation if the option provides a material 
right that the customers would not receive without entering into that contract, resulting in 
allocation of transaction price to separate performance obligations and to recognise contract 
liabilities for the performance obligations that will be satisfied in the future and revenue for the 
option when the award credits are utilised by customers for goods or services or when the option 
expires.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Other income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal outstanding at the effective interest 
rate.

Dividends are received from investments at FVTPL and FVTOCI. Dividend income is recognised 
when the right to receive the dividend is established.

2.8 Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets represent the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods that the Group has 
transferred to customers that are not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s 
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due.

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer goods to customers for which the Group 
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customers.

2.9 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs, other than those directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
quantifying assets, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their expected residual values over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 15% or over the remaining period of the lease, whichever is shorter
Plant and machinery, furniture  

and equipment
15%

Motor vehicle 15%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amounts if its carrying amount is higher than the 
assets estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11 Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in 
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost, including any directly attributable 
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss. Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of 
buildings held as investment properties using the straight line method over their expected useful lives of 
50 years or over the lease term, if shorter. Leasehold land held as investment property is depreciated 
over the lease term.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is 
derecognised.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets, other asset and investments in 
subsidiaries stated at cost are subject to impairment testing. These assets are tested for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period to determine whether there are indications that the assets’ carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of 
money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group 
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash generating unit (“CGU”)). Corporate assets 
are allocated to individual CGU on a reasonable and consistent basis. As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU level.

Impairment losses recognised for a CGU are charged pro rata to the assets in the CGU, except that the 
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal, or 
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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2.13 Leases

Accounting as a lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting 
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short term leases and/or 
(ii) leases for which the underlying assets are of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases at the commencement date which have a lease term less 
than 12 months. The lease payments associated with those leases have been expensed on straight line 
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial 
measurement of the lease liabilities (see below for the accounting policy to account for lease liabilities); 
(ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) 
any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee 
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions 
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use 
assets at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and 
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions that may 
lead to impairment of right-of-use assets. Where an impairment condition exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions about future events, which are subject to 
uncertainty and might materially differ from actual result. In making these key estimates and 
judgements, the directors of the Company take into consideration assumptions that are based on market 
condition existing at the end of the reporting period and appropriate market and discounts rates. These 
estimates are regularly compared to actual market data and actual transactions entered into by the 
Group.

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings that were held for rental or capital appreciation purpose would 
continue to be accounted for under HKAS 40 as investment properties and would also continue to be 
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included 
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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2.13 Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities should be recognised at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the date of commencement of the lease. The lease payments shall be discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the 
Group shall use the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid 
at the commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any 
lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially 
measured using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the 
lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement 
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period in which the event 
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liabilities by: (i) increasing the 
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the 
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease 
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a change 
in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if: (i) the modification increases the 
scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets and (ii) the consideration for 
the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and 
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular 
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease 
liabilities based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to 
the relevant right-of-use assets.
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2.13 Leases (Continued)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a number of tenants. Rental income from 
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the straight line basis over the lease term. 
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease 
payments receivable.

2.14 Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade debtor without a significant financing component) is initially 
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade debtor without a significant financing component is 
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are 
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are 3 measurement 
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets 
at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are 
measured at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required to be 
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded 
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the 
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, as described above, 
debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or 
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group could 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other 
comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity 
investments at FVTOCI are measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss 
unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investments. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified 
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair 
value, dividends and interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
the Company’s own equity instruments.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade debtors and 
financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVTOCI. The ECLs 
are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result 
from possible default events within the 12 months after the end of the reporting period; or (2) 
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum 
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted 
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade debtors using HKFRS 9 simplified 
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision 
matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are calculated based on the 12 months ECLs. However, 
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be 
based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and 
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to 
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. 
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired 
financial assets interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in 
credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is 
performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with 
a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into 
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were 
incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at 
amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in 
the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for 
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on financial 
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 
designated as a financial liability at FVTPL, except where the embedded derivative does not 
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is 
prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria 
are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different 
basis; (ii) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their 
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 
strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be 
separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the 
gains and losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other 
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income does not include any 
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade payables, other payables and accruals are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The related interest 
charge is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest charge over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter 
period.

(v) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in 
relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the 
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in 
whole or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments 
issued are the consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on 
the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect the 
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or 
loss for the year.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories, other than gold bullion held for trading, are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net 
realisable value. Cost is determined on an actual cost basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. It is the Group’s policy to determine the net realisable value by 
reference to management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.

Gold bullion held for trading are stated at fair value less costs to sell. Changes in fair value are 
recognised in profit or loss in the year of the change.

2.16 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, tax authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the end of reporting period. They are 
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the tax years to which they relate, based 
on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a 
component of tax expense in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of reporting 
period between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and 
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax loss available 
to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, unused tax loss and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or 
from initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they related to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in capital and reserves, in which case the taxes are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in capital and reserves respectively.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities on a net basis if, and only if:

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; 
and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future year in 
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 
recovered.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks, financial institution and in hand and short term bank 
deposits with original maturities of 3 months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of consolidated 
statement of cash flows presentation, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts which are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

2.18 Time deposits

Time deposits comprise deposits with banks with original maturities over 3 months.

2.19 Share capital

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution retirement schemes in Hong Kong. 
Contributions are made based on certain percentages of the employee’s basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the People’s Republic of China, except 
Hong Kong (the “PRC”), are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the 
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of 
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as expense in profit or loss as employees render services during the 
year. The Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions 
payable.

Hong Kong

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which are registered under the Hong Kong 
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 
Ordinance (the “MPFSO”) in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held, separately from 
those of the Group, in funds under the control of independent trustees. Employees who were 
members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice 
of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees 
joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme. The pension 
costs of defined contribution retirement schemes charged to the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions paid/payable to the funds by the 
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group 
contributes 5% (2021: 5%) of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contributions are 
matched by the employees. The maximum monthly amount of contributions is limited to 
HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500) per employee.

(a) ORSO Scheme

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the employees at 5% (2021: 
5%) and the Group at pre-determined rates ranging from 5% to 10% (2021: 5% to 10%) 
based on the employees’ years of services of relevant payroll costs.

The Company and a subsidiary make monthly contributions which are a percentage of 
relevant payroll costs, subject to a vesting scale with the benefit fully vested upon completion 
of 10 years’ service. The Company and a subsidiary reinvest forfeited contributions for staff 
who leave the Company or a subsidiary prior to qualifying for 100% disbursement of the 
contributions into the total pool of contributions that will be shared by the existing members 
in the scheme at the end of the scheme year. There was no amount forfeited during the year 
(2021: Nil).

(b) MPF Scheme

The Group has participated in a master trust MPF Scheme since December 2000 and made 
contributions to the MPF Scheme in accordance with the statutory requirements of the 
MPFSO.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Defined contribution plans  (Continued)

PRC

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of pension schemes 
operated by local government of the PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a 
percentage of 7% (2021: ranging from 7% to 12%) of relevant payroll costs of these employees to 
the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the 
retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s contributions under the above-mentioned defined contribution plans in Hong Kong 
and the PRC are expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited by those 
employees who leave the defined contribution plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

(ii) Short term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up 
to the end of reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised 
until the time of leave.

2.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of 
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the 
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of 
the Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic 
benefits is remote.

2.22 Provision for reinstatement costs

Provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a contractual obligation under the terms of a lease 
arrangement has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end of the lease. Reinstatement costs are 
provided at the value of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period 
using estimated cash flows and an equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated over the term of the 
lease arrangement. The estimated future costs of reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at least at the end of each reporting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or 
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

2.24 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or 
otherwise acquire non-current assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as 
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a 
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable and are recognised as other revenue, 
rather than reducing the related expense.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(i) Depreciation

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment and investment properties on a straight line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of 7 to 50 years. The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimates 
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment and investment properties.

(ii) Fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

The Group estimates the fair value of certain financial assets, which are unlisted equity securities, based 
on various valuation methodologies which involves estimates of certain significant unobservable inputs as 
described in note 38.7. The directors of the Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied 
that the method and input of valuations are reflective of the current market condition.

(iii) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions that may 
lead to impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. Where an impairment 
condition exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed 
in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions about future 
events, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from actual results. In making these 
key estimates and judgements, the directors of the Company take into consideration assumptions that are 
based on market condition existing at the end of reporting period and appropriate market and discounts 
rates. These estimates are regularly compared to actual market data and actual transactions entered into 
by the Group. For the details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets, please refer to note 16.

(iv) Incremental borrowing rate of leases

The Group applies incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate of lease liabilities, which require 
financing spread adjustments and lease specific adjustments based on the relevant market rates. The 
assessments of the adjustments in determining the discount rates involved management’s judgement, 
which may significantly affect the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

(v) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based 
on the current market conditions, inventory ageing, condition of inventories, historical experience of 
selling products of a similar nature and current sales information. Management reassesses these 
estimations at the end of reporting period to ensure inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. During the year, the provision for and write down of inventories of approximately 
HK$16,675,000 (2021: HK$18,101,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information based on the regular internal 
financial information reported to the Group’s top management including executive directors and chief 
executive for their decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business components and for their 
review of these components’ performance. The business components in the internal financial information 
reported to the top management are determined according to the Group’s major product and service lines.

Based on the above, the Group’s top management determined that the Group has only one single reportable 
segment, which is retailing, bullion trading and diamond wholesaling. Accordingly, no separate segment of 
analysis is presented.

No geographical information was presented for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 respectively as more 
than 90% of the Group’s revenue was derived from activities in Hong Kong (place of domicile). Also, most of 
the Group’s non-current assets are located in Hong Kong.

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 respectively, no revenue from a single customer accounted for 
10% or more of the total revenue of the Group.

5. REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in gold ornament, jewellery, watch and gift retailing, bullion trading and 
diamond wholesaling. Revenue of the Group recognised during the year comprised the following:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Gold ornament, jewellery, watch and gift retailing 773,351 597,252
Bullion trading 44,091 42,299
Diamond wholesaling 1,708 1,079

Total revenue 819,150 640,630

Timing of revenue recognition:
At a point in time 819,150 640,630

6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividend income 41 7
Foreign exchange differences, net 167 211
Government grants (note) — 6,258
Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost 1,627 2,067
Interest income from rental deposits 159 19
Rental income on owned properties 1,130 1,219
Write back of payables — 62
Others 244 79

3,368 9,922

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group applied for funding support from both Employment Support Scheme and Subsidy 
Scheme for Precious Metals Trading Industry under the Anti-Epidemic Fund set up by the Hong Kong Government. The purpose of 
the Employment Support Scheme is to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise be 
made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to 
spend all of the funding on paying wages to their employees. For the Subsidy Scheme for Precious Metals Trading Industry, it aims 
to provide relief to members of The Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange Society affected by Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19). There 
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these government grants in which they were recognised during the year 
ended 31 March 2021.
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7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value change of investments at fair value through profit or loss 8 105
Loss on write off/disposal of property, plant and equipment 144 24
Provision for impairment loss on property, plant and equipment — 3,573
Provision for impairment loss on right-of-use assets 4,500 7,754

4,652 11,456

8. FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest charges on:
Lease liabilities 4,394 5,182
Gold loan 1,471 1,296

5,865 6,478

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging and (crediting):

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditors’ remuneration 815 779
Cost of inventories sold, including 584,276 456,477

— provision for and write down of inventories to net realisable value 16,675 18,101
— reversal of provision for and write down of inventories to net 

realisable value (6,689) (11,783)
Depreciation of investment properties 71 72
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,034 1,108
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 43,975 45,580
Outgoings in respect of investment properties 195 199
Provision for long service payments

— provided against the account 22 6
— reversal of provision (5) (35)

Rental expenses for variable lease payments 1,831 2,953
Rental expenses on short term lease in respect of furniture and fixtures 1 —
Rental expenses on short term lease in respect of properties 94 403
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10. TAXATION

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 respectively as the 
Group has sufficient tax loss brought forward to set off against the estimated assessable profit.

No overseas profits tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 respectively as the 
Group has no estimated assessable profit.

Reconciliation between accounting profit and taxation charge at applicable tax rates is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 60,040 28,610

Tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the rates applicable  
to profit in the relevant tax jurisdictions 9,803 4,510

Tax effect of non-taxable income (121) (1,416)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 58 1,422
Temporary differences not recognised (379) (275)
Tax losses not recognised 650 1,874
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised tax losses utilised this year (10,011) (6,115)

Taxation charge — —

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$429,577,000 (2021: HK$520,225,000) that are available 
indefinitely and tax losses arising in the PRC of HK$6,860,000 (2021: HK$7,378,000) that will expire in 1 to 
5 years, for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No deferred tax 
assets have been recognised in respect of the above items due to the unpredictability of future profit streams 
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 March 2022, no deferred tax has been provided in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as there were no material temporary differences (2021: Nil).

11. DIVIDENDS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:
2020/21 final dividend of HK1.0 cent 

(2019/20 final dividend: HK0.2 cent) per ordinary share 9,117 1,827
2021/22 interim dividend of HK0.4 cent 

(2020/21 interim dividend: Nil) per ordinary share 3,647 —

12,764 1,827

At a meeting held on 24 June 2022, the board of directors of the Company recommended a final dividend of 
HK1.6 cents (2021: HK1.0 cent) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2022 which is subject to 
approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed 
dividend is not reflected as dividend payable as at 31 March 2022 in these consolidated financial statements.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the Company of HK$60,050,000 (2021: HK$28,615,000) and the weighted average number of 
911,676,958 (2021: 913,452,092) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 60,050 28,615

2022 2021

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April 912,208,465 913,650,465
Effect of ordinary shares repurchased and cancelled (note) (531,507) (198,373)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 March 911,676,958 913,452,092

Note:  The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year was adjusted for the effect of 550,000 (2021: 
1,442,000) ordinary shares repurchased and cancelled (note 29(b)) multiplied by a time-weighting factor.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share and basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 
respectively are the same as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during both years.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages, salaries and other benefits 65,081 56,579
Pension costs — defined contribution retirement schemes 2,443 2,299
Provision for long service payments (note 28) 22 6
Reversal of provision for long service payments (note 28) (5) (35)

67,541 58,849

Employee benefit expense as shown above includes directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (note 14).
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of the Directors) Regulation (Cap. 
622G) are as follows:

Directors’  
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits  
in kind

Pension costs 
— defined 

contribution 
retirement 

schemes Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022
Executive directors

Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard 110 3,160 18 3,288
Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick 140 400 — 540
Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin 100 400 — 500

Non-executive director
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles 120 — — 120

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter 125 — — 125
Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton 100 — — 100
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict 125 — — 125
Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony 380 — — 380

Chief executive
Ms. Sum Mei Lin — 3,404 18 3,422

1,200 7,364 36 8,600

2021
Executive directors

Mr. Tang Yat Sun, Richard 74 2,555 18 2,647
Dr. Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick 74 300 — 374
Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin  

(re-designated as an executive director  
on 26 November 2020) 47 104 — 151

Mr. Yeung Ka Shing  
(retired by rotation on 11 September 2020) 33 135 8 176

Non-executive director
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles  

(appointed on 11 September 2020) 17 — — 17

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Kar Shing, Peter 72 — — 72
Mr. Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton 70 — — 70
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict 70 — — 70
Mr. Cheng Kwok Shing, Anthony 283 — — 283

Chief executive
Ms. Sum Mei Lin — 2,926 18 2,944

740 6,020 44 6,804
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS (Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors/chief executive as an inducement to 
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

None of the other directors/chief executive has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended 
31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

In August 2021, the Company entered into a number of lease agreements with Stanwick Properties Limited 
(“Stanwick”) which is a wholly owned subsidiary of YCSEL for the lease of furniture and fixture at 3rd Floor 
and at Basement and Ground Floor, Mezzanine Floor, 3rd Floor, 5th Floor, 7th Floor to 10th Floor of the 
premises and equipment in King Fook Building, 30–32 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The directors of 
the Company are of the opinion that the rental was determined with reference to the market prices and the 
lease period of 2 years.

Moreover, the Company entered into a licence agreement dated 7 December 1998 (the “Licence Agreement”) 
with YCSEL to obtain an exclusive right for the design, manufacture and distribution of gold and jewellery 
products under the trademark of “King Fook” on a worldwide basis for a total consideration of HK$1. The 
Licence Agreement commenced from 7 December 1998 and may be terminated by any party by giving 3 
months’ written notice to the counterparty.

Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin, a director of the Company, is the husband of a shareholder and director of YCSEL.

Mr. Yeung Ka Shing, the former director of the Company, is the son of Mr. Yeung Bing Kwong, Kenneth, who 
together with other members of his family, controls YCSEL. Mr. Yeung Ka Shing retired as a director of the 
Company by rotation on 11 September 2020.

Except as disclosed as above, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the 
Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company or an entity 
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered into or subsisted 
during or at the end of the financial year.
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15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included 1 director and 1 
chief executive (2021: 1 director and 1 chief executive) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis as 
presented in note 14. The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2021: 3) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,611 4,839
Pension costs — defined contribution retirement schemes 163 159

5,774 4,998

The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2021: 3) highest paid individuals, fell within the following emolument 
bands:

Number of individuals
2022 2021

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 2 3
HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 —

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the 5 highest paid individuals as an inducement 
to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

The emoluments of the members of senior management excluding directors (executive and non-executive) and 
chief executive, fell within the following emolument bands:

Number of individuals
2022 2021

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1 2
HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 —
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
machinery, 

furniture and 
equipment

Motor  
vehicle Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020
Cost 17,291 9,209 656 27,156
Accumulated depreciation (9,681) (6,404) (656) (16,741)
Impairment loss (7,265) (1,151) — (8,416)

Net book amount 345 1,654 — 1,999

Net book amount
At 1 April 2020 345 1,654 — 1,999
Additions 3,792 1,277 — 5,069
Write off/disposals — (24) — (24)
Depreciation (585) (523) — (1,108)
Impairment loss (3,501) (72) — (3,573)
Exchange differences — 2 — 2

At 31 March 2021 51 2,314 — 2,365

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Cost 21,083 9,577 656 31,316
Accumulated depreciation (10,266) (6,411) (656) (17,333)
Impairment loss (10,766) (852) — (11,618)

Net book amount 51 2,314 — 2,365

Net book amount
At 1 April 2021 51 2,314 — 2,365
Additions 9,794 646 — 10,440
Write off/disposals — (144) — (144)
Depreciation (2,495) (539) — (3,034)
Exchange differences — 1 — 1

At 31 March 2022 7,350 2,278 — 9,628

At 31 March 2022
Cost 23,467 9,415 656 33,538
Accumulated depreciation (8,905) (6,300) (656) (15,861)
Impairment loss (7,212) (837) — (8,049)

Net book amount 7,350 2,278 — 9,628

Depreciation expense of HK$2,762,000 (2021: HK$878,000) was included in distribution and selling costs and 
HK$272,000 (2021: HK$230,000) was included in administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Due to the on-going COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s retail stores fell short of the expected performance 
which was considered to be an impairment indicator. The Group had performed an impairment assessment on 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (note 17) in accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of 
Assets . Based on the assessment, impairment losses on right-of-use assets of HK$4,500,000 (2021: 
HK$7,754,000) (note 17) was recognised and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and no impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was recognised for the year 
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$3,573,000). The impairment provision was made against a renewal lease 
agreement which was entered into during the year. The recoverable amounts of these property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets using value-in-use calculation were determined by the discounted cash flows 
generated from the retail stores based on the management budget plan covering a three-year period and a 
pre-tax discount rate of 9% (2021: 9%), with major assumptions such as change in revenue (based on 
projected sales estimated by management which is dependent on the estimated negative effect of the possible 
timing of continuance of travel and quarantine restrictions in Hong Kong, and the speed of recovery of tourist 
arrivals and their spending), change in operating cost (based on historical information and estimated changes 
related to the Group’s various cost saving measures and central administration cost absorption) and change in 
gross profit and product mix (based on the historical data and adjusted for the possible changes in gross profit 
and product mix due to the change in market and operational environment).

The change in revenue is dependent on the timing of easing of the various travel restriction and quarantine 
measures for COVID-19 pandemic, with the assumption that tourist traffic and customer spending would start 
to gradually recover from the second half of the year ended 31 March 2023 onwards in Hong Kong.

17. LEASES

Nature of leasing activities

The Group has obtained the right to use properties and furniture and equipment as its office premises and 
retail stores under non-cancellable operating lease agreements, which comprise only fixed payments and 
variable payments that are based on sales over the lease terms.

Variable lease payments

Lease of certain retail stores includes fixed lease payments and variable lease payments that are based on 6% 
to 15% (2021: 12%) monthly sales and such payments are settled monthly. The payment terms are common in 
the retail stores where the Group operates. The amounts of fixed and variable lease payments paid/payable to 
certain relevant lessors for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 were:

Number  
of store

Fixed 
payments

Variable 
payments

Total 
payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022
Retail store with variable payments 2 6,971 1,831 8,802

2021
Retail store with variable payments 1 5,128 2,953 8,081

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms is that higher rental costs are incurred by stores 
with higher sales. Variable lease payments are expected to continue to represent a similar proportion of store 
sales in future years.
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17. LEASES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of the Group’s right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset at the end of 
the reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties 51,619 73,390
Furniture and equipment 1,438 782

53,057 74,172

During the year, additions of right-of-use assets of HK$8,712,000 (2021: HK$8,773,000) represented the 
capitalised lease payments payable under new lease agreements.

Movement of right-of-use assets during the year is as follows:

Properties
Furniture and 

equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2020 110,173 991 111,164
Additions 8,713 60 8,773
Depreciation (45,311) (269) (45,580)
Impairment loss (note 16) (7,754) — (7,754)
Lease modifications 7,569 — 7,569

As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 73,390 782 74,172
Additions 7,509 1,203 8,712
Depreciation (43,313) (662) (43,975)
Impairment loss (note 16) (4,500) — (4,500)
Lease modifications 18,533 115 18,648

As at 31 March 2022 51,619 1,438 53,057
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17. LEASES (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

2022 2021
Present  

value of the 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Total 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Present  
value of the 

minimum  
lease  

payments

Total 
minimum  

lease  
payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 50,797 53,176 43,298 46,871
After 1 year but within 2 years 18,611 19,035 38,047 39,633
After 2 years but within 5 years 1,633 1,645 11,363 11,598

71,041 73,856 92,708 98,102

Less: Total future interest charges (2,815) (5,394)

Present value of lease liabilities 71,041 92,708

The present value of future lease payments is analysed as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities 50,797 43,298
Non-current liabilities 20,244 49,410

71,041 92,708

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year
Gross carrying amount 3,759 3,759
Accumulated depreciation (2,800) (2,728)

Net carrying amount 959 1,031

Opening net carrying amount 959 1,031
Depreciation (71) (72)

Closing net carrying amount 888 959

At the end of the year
Gross carrying amount 3,759 3,759
Accumulated depreciation (2,871) (2,800)

Net carrying amount 888 959
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties, which are land and buildings held under leasehold interest, are situated in 
Hong Kong.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2022 was approximately HK$56,780,000 
(2021: HK$53,920,000) which was arrived on the basis of a valuation performed by BMI Appraisals Limited, 
an independent qualified valuer. Valuation was estimated based on the properties’ open market value with 
reference to the market evidence of prices for comparable properties at the end of reporting period.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement.

Fair value is determined by applying the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in 
close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as age, time, location, floor level of property 
and other relevant factors.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ from 
their actual use.

19. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities 771 1,229

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income represented equity investments 
that is not held for trading. The Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the equity investments at 
fair value through other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss because this is considered to 
be more appropriate for these strategic investments.

The fair values of these investments at 31 March 2021 and 2022 were determined by the directors of the 
Company. Details of the fair value measurement are set out in note 38.7.

20. OTHER ASSET

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Membership licence, at cost 356 356

Membership licence is carried at cost less any impairment. It represented cost of membership at The Chinese 
Gold and Silver Exchange Society.
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21. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current
Trade debtors (i) 3,042 2,041
Other receivables (ii) 3,486 4,248
Rental deposits 1,036 3,971
Other deposits 1,866 1,584
Prepayments 4,768 4,444

14,198 16,288

Non-current
Rental deposits 15,898 13,267

30,096 29,555

Notes:

(i) Trade debtors

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross carrying amount 3,042 2,041
Less: Provision for impairment loss — —

Trade debtors — net 3,042 2,041

Trade debtors are normally due within 1 month. The management of the Group considered that the fair values of trade debtors are 
not materially different from their carrying amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods at inception.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and collective 
basis. Based on the Group’s assessment (note 38.2), the loss allowance of ECLs was immaterial and no loss allowance was recognised 
at 31 March 2021 and 2022. Also, the Group has determined that none of the trade debtors were individually impaired (2021: Nil).

As a result, no loss allowance for ECLs was recognised during the year (2021: Nil).

At 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade debtors, based on invoice date, was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 2,440 1,866
31 – 90 days 265 175
More than 90 days 337 —

3,042 2,041

(ii) Other receivables

The management of the Group considered that the fair values of other receivables are not materially different from their carrying 
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods at inception.



 66 KING FOOK HOLDINGS LIMITED

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31 March 2022

22. INVENTORIES

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Jewellery 243,405 269,879
Gold ornament 46,353 36,469
Gold bullion 4,408 3,728
Watch and gift 75,323 104,991
Others 233 150

369,722 415,217

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value less costs to sell of gold bullion was approximately HK$4,408,000 (2021: 
HK$3,728,000).

23. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities
Listed in Hong Kong 151 159

The above investments are classified as held for trading.

Fair values of the listed equity securities have been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the 
end of reporting period.

Movements in investments at FVTPL are presented within the section of operating activities as part of changes 
in working capital in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Changes in fair value of investments at FVTPL are recorded in other operating income and expenses in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

These investments are subject to financial risk exposure in terms of price risk.

24. TIME DEPOSITS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months 144,100 88,127

The effective interest rates on the time deposits with original maturity over 3 months was 0.75% (2021: 0.70% 
to 0.75%) per annum. These deposits had a maturity period of 122 to 123 days (2021: 122 to 129 days).

The management of the Group considered that the fair value of the time deposits is not materially different 
from its carrying amount because of the short maturity period at inception.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 53,176 86,982
Cash at a financial institution 287 458
Short term bank deposits 201,056 121,830

254,519 209,270

The cash balances at banks and financial institution bore interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit 
rates.

The effective interest rates of short term bank deposits as at 31 March 2022 were ranged from 0.31% to 
1.03% (2021: 0.17% to 0.46%) per annum. These deposits had original maturity period within 3 months 
(2021: 3 months) and were eligible for immediate cancellation without receiving any interest for the last 
deposit period.

The management of the Group considered that the fair value of the short term bank deposits is not materially 
different from its carrying amount because of the short maturity period at inception.

Included in cash and cash equivalents of the Group were balances of HK$1,743,000 (2021: HK$720,000) 
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. 
Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales and 
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies 
through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

26. TRADE PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (i) 5,911 10,441
Other payables 3,252 3,119
Accruals and provisions 12,202 8,671
Contract liabilities (ii) 2,742 2,089
Deposits received 16,354 10,990

40,461 35,310

Trade payables, other payables and accruals and provisions are short term in nature and hence their carrying 
values are considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Trade payables

At 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 5,869 10,431
31 – 90 days 42 10

5,911 10,441

(ii) Contract liabilities

Movements in contract liabilities are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 2,089 2,277
Decrease as a result of recognising revenue during the year (853) (1,436)
Increase as a result of receiving deposits from customers 1,506 1,248

At the end of the year 2,742 2,089

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration received from customers and the Group’s customer loyalty 
program. Contract liabilities of HK$853,000 (2021: HK$1,436,000) at the beginning of the year has been recognised as revenue for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 from performance obligations satisfied when the goods were sold during the year.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2022, the aggregated amount of unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations under the 
Group’s existing contracts was approximately HK$2,742,000 (2021: HK$2,089,000). This amount represents revenue expected to be 
recognised in the future when such performance obligation is satisfied, which is expected to occur in the next 12 to 24 months.

27. GOLD LOAN

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Gold loan, unsecured, at fair value
Repayable within 1 year 44,045 32,714

Gold loan was denominated at United States Dollars (“US$”) and bore interest at fixed rate from 2.95% to 
4.17% (2021: 4.26%) per annum, which was the effective interest rate at 31 March 2022.

Fair value of the gold loan has been determined by reference to its quoted bid price at the end of the 
reporting period.

Corporate guarantees are given by the Company for the Group’s banking facilities, including the gold loan.

Gold loan is subject to financial risk exposure in terms of price risk and foreign currency risk.
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28. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 38 67
Provision 22 6
Reversal (5) (35)

At the end of the year 55 38

At 31 March 2021 and 2022, the balances represent the provision for entitlements of the Group’s employees to 
long service payments on termination of their employment, which are not fully covered by the Group’s 
provident fund schemes.

29. SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Issued share capital

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:
911,658,465 (2021: 912,208,465) ordinary shares 393,354 393,354

Number of ordinary shares Share capital
2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning of the year 912,208,465 913,650,465 393,354 393,354
Ordinary shares repurchased and 

cancelled (550,000) (1,442,000) — —

At the end of the year 911,658,465 912,208,465 393,354 393,354

(b) Repurchase of ordinary shares

Month/year

Number of 
ordinary 

shares 
repurchased

Highest  
price paid  
per share

Lowest  
price paid  
per share

Aggregate 
price paid

HK$ HK$ HK$’000

April 2021 550,000 0.325 0.315 177

The repurchase of ordinary shares was governed by section 257 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. The total amounts incurred, including transaction costs, on the repurchased ordinary shares 
of HK$184,000 were paid out of retained profits. All of the repurchased ordinary shares were cancelled 
before the end of the reporting period.
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30. RESERVES

The amount of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The capital reserve account of the Group includes negative goodwill arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries 
before 1 April 2001 which represented the excess of the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets 
acquired over the cost of the acquisitions.

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to operating profit before working capital changes is as 
follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 60,040 28,610
Depreciation of investment properties 71 72
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,034 1,108
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 43,975 45,580
Dividend income (41) (7)
Fair value change of investments at fair value through profit or loss 8 105
Interest charges 5,865 6,478
Interest income (1,786) (2,087)
Loss on write off/disposal of property, plant and equipment 144 24
Provision for and write down of inventories to net realisable value 16,675 18,101
Provision for impairment loss on property, plant and equipment — 3,573
Provision for impairment loss on right-of-use assets 4,500 7,754
Provision for long service payments 22 6
Reversal of provision for and write down of inventories to net 

realisable value (6,689) (11,783)
Reversal of provision for long service payments (5) (35)
Write back of payables — (62)

Operating profit before working capital changes 125,813 97,437
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash 
flows from financing activities.

Lease 
liabilities

Gold  
loan

Interest 
payables

Dividend 
payables Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2020 123,135 31,286 92 — 154,513

Changes from cash flows:
Proceeds from gold loan — 4,032 — — 4,032
Repayment of gold loan — (3,697) — — (3,697)
Payment of principal element of lease liabilities (46,446) — — — (46,446)
Interest paid on gold loan — — (1,291) — (1,291)
Payment of interest element of lease liabilities (5,182) — — — (5,182)
Dividend paid — — — (1,821) (1,821)

Total changes from cash flows (51,628) 335 (1,291) (1,821) (54,405)

Other non-cash flow changes:
Additions 8,508 — — — 8,508
Lease modification 7,511 — — — 7,511
Change in fair value of gold loan — 1,093 — — 1,093
Interest incurred 5,182 — 1,296 — 6,478
Dividend recognised — — — 1,827 1,827

Total other non-cash flow changes 21,201 1,093 1,296 1,827 25,417

As at 31 March 2021 92,708 32,714 97 6 125,525

As at 1 April 2021 92,708 32,714 97 6 125,525

Changes from cash flows:
Proceeds from gold loan — 10,249 — — 10,249
Repayment of gold loan — (4,116) — — (4,116)
Payment of principal element of lease liabilities (48,493) — — — (48,493)
Interest paid on gold loan — — (1,184) — (1,184)
Payment of interest element of lease liabilities (4,394) — — — (4,394)
Dividends paid — — — (12,770) (12,770)

Total changes from cash flows (52,887) 6,133 (1,184) (12,770) (60,708)

Other non-cash flow changes:
Additions 8,415 — — — 8,415
Lease modification 18,411 — — — 18,411
Change in fair value of gold loan — 5,198 — — 5,198
Interest incurred 4,394 — 1,471 — 5,865
Dividends recognised — — — 12,764 12,764

Total other non-cash flow changes 31,220 5,198 1,471 12,764 50,653

As at 31 March 2022 71,041 44,045 384 — 115,470

Interest payables and dividend payables are included in trade payables, deposits received and other 
payables presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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32. FUTURE OPERATING LEASE RECEIVABLES

At 31 March, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under 
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of investment properties are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 910 1,186
After 1 year but within 2 years 322 531
After 2 years but within 3 years 46 —

1,278 1,717

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating lease arrangements which run for an initial 
period of 12 to 26 months (2021: 1 to 3 years), with option for tenants to renew the lease term at the expiry 
date.

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Contracted but not provided for — 650
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the 
Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Management fees and air-conditioning charges paid to 
Stanwick (i) 1,096 1,096

Sale of goods to: (ii)
Directors 957 397
YCSEL — 95

Purchase of consumables from Stanwick (iii) 74 173

Notes:

(i) The Group has entered into a number of lease agreements with Stanwick for the use of properties relating to the Basement 
and Ground Floor, Mezzanine Floor, 3rd (including a flat roof), 5th, 7th, 8th, 9th and 10th Floors of King Fook Building, 
30–32 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong and furniture and equipment. In addition to the management fees and 
air-conditioning charges paid to Stanwick as disclosed, as at 31 March 2022, the Group had recognised lease liabilities and 
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$15,397,000 (2021: HK$5,737,000) and HK$9,676,000 (2021: HK$4,581,000) for the 
lease payments of those leases respectively. Total undiscounted lease payments under these lease agreements were 
approximately HK$11,339,000 (2021: HK$12,301,000) during the year. Stanwick is a wholly owned subsidiary of YCSEL, the 
ultimate holding company of the Group. Mr. Wong Wei Ping, Martin, a director of the Company, is the husband of a 
shareholder and director of YCSEL. These related party transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms.

(ii) It represents sale of gold ornament, jewellery and watch items net of sale discounts to both the directors of the Company and 
YCSEL for the year. Discounts offered to directors of the Company are available generally to customers and the value of 
discounts given to YCSEL is considered not material to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) These related party transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company (executive and non-executive) and other members of key 
management during the year was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 12,486 10,030
Pension costs — defined contribution retirement schemes 181 185

12,667 10,215



 74 KING FOOK HOLDINGS LIMITED

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31 March 2022

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

As at  
31 March

As at  
31 March

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1,027 1,262
Right-of-use assets 3,614 1,627
Investments in subsidiaries 22,023 22,023

26,664 24,912

Current assets
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 1,190 1,139
Amounts due from subsidiaries 280,797 392,545
Time deposits 144,100 88,127
Cash and cash equivalents 218,351 123,562

644,438 605,373

Current liabilities
Creditors, deposits received and accruals 9,583 6,502
Amounts due to subsidiaries 70,758 21,161
Lease liabilities 2,498 2,040

82,839 29,703

Net current assets 561,599 575,670

Non-current liability
Lease liabilities 1,588 —

Net assets 586,675 600,582

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 29 393,354 393,354
Retained profits 36 193,321 207,228

586,675 600,582

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 24 June 2022 and was signed by:

Tang Yat Sun, Richard Fung Yuk Bun, Patrick
Chairman Director
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36. RETAINED PROFITS OF THE COMPANY

The movement of retained profits of the Company is as follows:

HK$’000

At 1 April 2020 170,885
Surplus for the year 38,849
2019/20 final dividend (1,827)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (679)

At 31 March 2021 207,228

At 1 April 2021 207,228
Loss for the year (959)
2020/21 final dividend (9,117)
2021/22 interim dividend (3,647)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (184)

At 31 March 2022 193,321

37. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries during the year ended and/or as at 31 March 2022 are as follows:

Name
Place/country  
of incorporation

Particulars of issued 
capital/registered capital

Percentage of issued 
capital/registered 
capital held by

Place of operation and 
principal activities

Group Company

Guangzhou Free Trade Zone King  
Fook Gold & Jewellery Company 
Limited*

PRC US$1,000,000 100 100 Dormant

Impact Link Limited^ Hong Kong 4,173,423 ordinary shares 
of HK$4,173,423

100 99.76 Dissolved

Jet Bright Trading Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100 — Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

Jewellery Hospital Company Limited Hong Kong 2,637,547 ordinary shares 
of HK$2,637,547

100 99.62 Under deregistration

King Fook China Resources Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$20 100 100 Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

King Fook Gold & Jewellery  
Company Limited

Hong Kong 546,750 ordinary shares  
of HK$54,675,000

100 100 Investment holding and 
trading in Hong Kong

King Fook International Money 
Exchange (Kowloon) Limited

Hong Kong 65,000 ordinary shares  
of HK$6,500,000

100 — Under deregistration

King Fook Investment Company 
Limited

Hong Kong 2,500,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$2,500,000

100 100 Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

King Fook Jewellery Group Limited Hong Kong 600,000 ordinary shares  
of HK$60,000,000

100 100 Gold ornament, jewellery, 
watch and gift retailing 
and bullion trading in 
Hong Kong
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37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name
Place/country of 
incorporation

Particulars of issued 
capital/registered capital

Percentage of issued 
capital/registered 
capital held by

Place of operation and 
principal activities

Group Company

King Fook Jewellery Macau Limited Macau Macau Patacas 25,000 100 — Dormant

King Shing Bullion Traders & Finance 
Company Limited

Hong Kong 60,000 ordinary shares  
of HK$6,000,000

100 — Dormant

King Fook Jewellery (Beijing)  
Company Limited*

PRC RMB1,382,580 100 — Under deregistration

King Fook Jewellery (China)  
Company Limited*

PRC RMB68,000,000 100 — Gold ornament, jewellery, 
watch and diamond 
retailing and 
wholesaling in the PRC

King Fook (Shanghai) International 
Trading Limited#*

PRC US$200,000 100 — Gold ornament, jewellery 
and watch wholesaling 
in the PRC

Mario Villa Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$2,000,000

100 100 Under deregistration

Polyview International Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100 100 Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

Tincati Asia Limited Hong Kong 224,177 ordinary shares  
of HK$22,417,700

100 97.57 Under deregistration

Tincati (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 1,362,622 ordinary shares 
of HK$1,362,622

100 — Under deregistration

Trade Vantage Holdings Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100 — Investment trading in 
Hong Kong

Yatheng Investments Limited^ Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares  
of HK$10,000

100 — Dissolved

Young’s Diamond Corporation 
(International) Limited

Hong Kong 100,000 ordinary shares  
of HK$10,000,000

99.05 99.05 Diamond wholesaling in 
Hong Kong

Young’s Diamond Factory Limited Hong Kong 2,000 ordinary shares  
of US$20,000

99.05 — Dormant

Young’s Diamond Corporation 
(Shanghai) Limited#*

PRC RMB1,855,456 100 89.22 Diamond wholesaling in 
the PRC

Notes:

# The names of these subsidiaries represent management’s translation of the Chinese names of these companies as no English names 
have been registered.

^ Subsidiaries were dissolved during the year ended 31 March 2022.

* Subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of 
operations and investment activities. The financial risks include market risk (including foreign currency risk, 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management policies 
focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance. The board of directors of the Company meets periodically to analyse and 
formulate strategies to manage the Group’s exposure to financial risks. Generally, the Group utilises 
conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments 
for hedging purposes. The Group does not issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The 
most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.

38.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 771 1,229

Financial asset at amortised cost
Deposits 15,898 13,267

16,669 14,496

Current assets
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 151 159

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade debtors 3,042 2,041
Other receivables 3,486 4,248
Deposits 2,902 5,555
Time deposits 144,100 88,127
Cash and cash equivalents 254,519 209,270

408,200 309,400

424,869 323,896

Non-current liability
Lease liabilities 20,244 49,410

Current liabilities
Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss

Gold loan 44,045 32,714

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables 5,911 10,441
Other payables and accruals 15,102 11,562

Lease liabilities 50,797 43,298

115,855 98,015

136,099 147,425
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparties to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its 
obligation under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The 
Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers in the ordinary course of 
operations and its investing activities.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group reviews the recoverable amount of 
each individual debt periodically and at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate 
impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the management of the Group 
considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. The Group has no significant 
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is 
assessed based on individual and collective basis. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does 
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based 
on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The Group determines the expected loss rate for its trade debtors as follows:

2022 2021

Current 0.2% 0.2%
Past due 90 days or less 2.2% 2.2%

The Group has assessed that the loss allowance of ECLs was immaterial as at 31 March 2021 and 2022. 
Accordingly, no loss allowance for trade debtors was recognised as at 31 March 2021 and 2022. There is 
no significant change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made.

Expected loss rate is based on actual loss experience over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to 
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has 
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives 
of the receivables and the forward looking information.

In respect of short term bank deposits and cash at banks and financial institution balances, the credit 
risk is limited because majority of the deposits are placed with reputable banks and financial institution.

The credit risks for other receivables and deposits of the Group are considered insignificant as the 
counterparties have a low risk of default. The Group assessed that the loss allowance of ECLs for the 
balances are immaterial under the 12 months ECLs method. Accordingly, no loss allowance provision 
was recognised as at 31 March 2021 and 2022.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements over the financial 
assets.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having similar 
characteristics if they are related entities.

Details of Group’s maximum exposures to credit risk on trade debtors, other receivables and deposits 
refer to note 21.

The credit policies have been consistently applied by the Group since prior years and are considered to 
have been effective in limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.3 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Most of the Group’s transactions are carried 
out in HK$. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, 
which are denominated in Swiss Franc (“CHF”), Euro (“EUR”), RMB and US$ and gold loan (note 27), 
which is denominated in US$.

Details of financial asset and liability denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 March, translated into 
HK$ equivalents at the closing rate, are as follows:

CHF EUR RMB US$
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022
Financial asset

Cash and cash equivalents 3,510 8 16 10,042

Financial liability
Gold loan — — — (44,045)

Net exposure 3,510 8 16 (34,003)

2021
Financial asset

Cash and cash equivalents 2,404 8 15 5,284

Financial liability
Gold loan — — — (32,714)

Net exposure 2,404 8 15 (27,430)

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly and does not consider its foreign currency 
risk to be significant. However, the Group would consider hedging of its foreign currency exposures if its 
foreign currency risk becomes significant.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are 
considered to be effective.

A reasonable change in CHF, EUR, RMB and US$ rates in the next 12 months is assessed to result in an 
immaterial change in the Group’s profit after tax, retained profits and other components of capital and 
reserves. The Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash and financial management and focuses 
on reducing the Group’s overall exchange differences.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to changes in market interest 
rates through its cash at banks at floating interest rates and time deposits and gold loan at fixed interest 
rates. Gold loan issued at fixed interest rates and lease liabilities exposes the Group to fair value interest 
rate risk. The interest rates and terms of gold loan are disclosed in note 27.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk, working within an agreed framework, to ensure 
that there are no undue exposures to significant interest rate movements and rates are approximately 
fixed when necessary.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are 
considered to be effective.

A reasonable change in interest rates in the next 12 months is assessed to result in an immaterial change 
in the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits. Changes in interest rates have no impact on the 
Group’s other components of capital and reserves. The Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash 
and financial management and focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest charge.

38.5 Price risk

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than changes in interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates).

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments classified as investments at 
FVTPL and at FVTOCI. Other than unlisted securities, all of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are primarily listed on the Stock Exchange. The policies to manage equity 
price risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are considered to be effective.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained 
profits) in response to the reasonably possible changes in the stock market prices of Hong Kong, to 
which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

2022 2021
Increase/

(decrease)  
in security 

market price

Increase/
(decrease)  

in profit 
after tax

Increase/
(decrease)  

in retained 
profits

Increase/
(decrease)  

in security 
market price

Increase/
(decrease)  

in profit  
after tax

Increase/
(decrease)  

in retained 
profits

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong market 30% 45 45 30% 48 48

Hong Kong market (30%) (45) (45) (30%) (48) (48)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in equity price had 
occurred at the end of reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to price risk for the 
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 30% increase/decrease represents 
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in equity prices over the period until the next 
end of reporting period. The analysis was performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 March 
2021.

The Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash and financial management and focuses on 
reducing the Group’s overall exposure to fair value change.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.5 Price risk (Continued)

Commodity price risk

The Group’s commodity price risk arises from gold loan (note 27). Since the level of gold stocks is close 
to that of gold loan and they have offsetting effect on price fluctuation, the management of the Group 
does not expect that there will be any significant commodity price risk exposure.

The policies to manage commodity price risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are 
considered to be effective.

38.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade payables, 
other payables and accruals and provisions, gold loan and lease liabilities, and also in respect of its cash 
flow management.

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and have available funding to meet 
its working capital requirements. The Group’s liquidity is dependent upon the cash received from its 
customers. The management of the Group is satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its 
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.

At 31 March, the Group’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities, which are based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows, as set out below:

On  
demand

Within  
6 months

6 to 12 
months

After  
1 year  

but within  
2 years

After  
2 years  

but within  
5 years Total

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022
Trade payables 5,547 364 — — — 5,911 5,911
Other payables 2,187 1,065 — — — 3,252 3,252
Accruals and provisions 1,656 9,773 421 — — 11,850 11,850
Gold loan — 44,106 — — — 44,106 44,045
Lease liabilities — 27,303 25,873 19,035 1,645 73,856 71,041

9,390 82,611 26,294 19,035 1,645 138,975 136,099

2021
Trade payables 203 10,238 — — — 10,441 10,441
Other payables 1,929 714 476 — — 3,119 3,119
Accruals and provisions 1,168 6,966 309 — — 8,443 8,443
Gold loan — 32,749 — — — 32,749 32,714
Lease liabilities — 26,304 20,567 39,633 11,598 98,102 92,708

3,300 76,971 21,352 39,633 11,598 152,854 147,425
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.7 Fair value measurements

At the end of the reporting period, the financial assets and liability measured at fair value in the 
consolidated statement of financial position are set out as follows:

2022 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss
Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss
— Listed equity securities (i) 151 — — 151 159 — — 159

Financial asset at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income
Investments at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive income
— Unlisted equity securities (ii) — — 771 771 — — 1,229 1,229

Financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss
Gold loan (i) 44,045 — — 44,045 32,714 — — 32,714

The Group followed HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement , which introduces a 3 level hierarchy for fair 
value measurement disclosures and additional disclosures about the relative reliability of fair value 
measurements.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liability into 3 levels based on the relative reliability of 
significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and liability. The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liability;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.7 Fair value measurements (Continued)

Notes:

(i) At the end of each reporting period, the listed equity securities and gold loan are measured subsequent to initial recognition 
at fair value, grouped into Level 1 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. Level 1 fair value measurements 
are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liability.

(ii) At the end of each reporting period, the unlisted equity securities are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into Level 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is unobservable. The fair value measurements of unlisted 
equity securities are determined by the directors of the Company.

Movement of financial assets grouped into Level 3 is as follows:

Unlisted equity securities 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 1,229 3,007
Fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income (390) (1,778)
Disposal (68) —

At the end of the year 771 1,229

The valuations are determined based on the following significant unobservable inputs:

Financial assets
Valuation 
technique

Significant 
unobservable inputs Range/value Sensitivity of fair value to the input

Unlisted equity securities 
with carrying amounts of 
HK$20,000 (2021: 
HK$62,000) as at 31 
March 2022

Market 
approach

Price-to-book multiple 
(“P/B multiple”)

0.14 to 0.72 
(2021: 0.22  
to 1.15)

The fair values of unlisted equity 
secur i t i e s  a re  de te rmined wi th 
reference to multiples of comparable 
listed companies, using the average of 
the P/B multiple of comparable. The 
fair value measurement is positively 
correlated to the P/B multiple. Had the 
highest P/B multiple among the 
comparable been used as at 31 March 
2022, the fair value would have 
increased by HK$13,000. Had the 
lowest P/B mult iple among the 
comparable been used as at 31 March 
2022, the fair value would have 
decreased by HK$14,000.

Discount for lack of 
marketability 
(“DLOM”)

24.2% (2021: 
24.2%)

The fair values of unlisted equity 
securities are also determined with 
reference to DLOM. The fair value 
measurement is negatively correlated to 
the DLOM. Had the DLOM decreased 
by 5% as at 31 March 2022, the fair 
value would have increased by 
HK$1,000. Had the DLOM increased 
by 5% as at 31 March 2022, the fair 
value would have decreased by 
HK$1,000.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

38.7 Fair value measurements (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii) (Continued)

Financial assets
Valuation 
technique

Significant 
unobservable inputs Range/value Sensitivity of fair value to the input

Unlisted equity securities 
with carrying amounts of 
HK$751,000 (2021: 
HK$1,099,000) as at 31 
March 2022

Market 
approach

Enterprise value-to-
earnings before 
interest, taxes, 
depreciation and 
amortisation multiple  
(“EV/EBITDA 
multiple”)

21.72 to 23.82 
(2021: 22.42 
to 24.73)

The fair values of unlisted equity 
secur i t i e s  a re  de te rmined wi th 
reference to multiples of comparable 
listed companies, using the average of 
t h e  E V / E B I T D A  m u l t i p l e  o f 
c o m p a r a b l e .  T h e  f a i r  v a l u e 
measurement is positively correlated to 
the EV/EBITDA multiple. Had the 
highest EV/EBITDA multiple among the 
comparable been used as at 31 March 
2022, the fair value would have 
increased by HK$8,000. Had the lowest 
EV/EBITDA mult iple among the 
comparable been used as at 31 March 
2022, the fair value would have 
decreased by HK$8,000.

DLOM 24.2% (2021: 
24.2%)

The fair values of unlisted equity 
securities are also determined with 
reference to DLOM. The fair value 
measurement is negatively correlated to 
the DLOM. Had the DLOM decreased 
by 5% as at 31 March 2022, the fair 
value would have increased by 
HK$50,000. Had the DLOM increased 
by 5% as at 31 March 2022, the fair 
value would have decreased by 
HK$50,000.

As at 31 March 2021, unlisted equity securities with carrying amounts of HK$68,000 was determined with reference to its 
relevant net asset value. The directors of the Company determined that the reported net asset value represents the fair value 
of the unlisted equity securities. Such unlisted equity securities were disposed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

There have been no transfers between levels in the reporting period.
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39. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Group’s capital management objectives are:

(i) to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and

(ii) to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the 
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and 
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of 
changes in economic conditions.

The equity capital-to-overall financing ratio at the end of reporting period was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity capital
Total capital and reserves 707,686 660,639

Overall financing
Gold loan 44,045 32,714
Lease liabilities 71,041 92,708

115,086 125,422

Equity capital-to-overall financing ratio 6.15 : 1 5.27 : 1
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Description Lot No.

Saleable 
Floor Area 

(sq. feet)

Interest 
Attributable 

to The 
Group Type Lease Term

Unit H, 3rd Floor,
Kaiser Estate 2nd Phase,
Nos. 47–53 Man Yue Street &  
Nos. 20–28 Man Lok Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

The remaining portion of 
section H of Kowloon 
Marine Lot No. 40

4,436 99.05% C Medium

Unit K, 3rd Floor,
Kaiser Estate 2nd Phase,
Nos. 47–53 Man Yue Street &  
Nos. 20–28 Man Lok Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

The remaining portion of 
section H of Kowloon 
Marine Lot No. 40

5,316 99.05% C Medium

Private Car Parking Space
Nos. G10 & G33 on
Ground Floor,
Kaiser Estate 2nd Phase,
Nos. 47–53 Man Yue Street &  
Nos. 20–28 Man Lok Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

The remaining portion of 
section H of Kowloon 
Marine Lot No. 40

N/A 99.05% CP Medium

C: Commercial

CP: Carpark

N/A: Not applicable
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2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 863,288 821,409 818,799 687,978 747,769
Total liabilities 155,602 160,770 183,305 54,335 116,472
Current assets/current liabilities (times) 5.78 6.55 6.30 12.55 6.38

Capital and reserves

Capital and reserves 707,686 660,639 635,494 633,643 631,297
Capital and reserves per share (HK$) 0.78 0.72 0.70 0.69 0.69
Total assets/capital and reserves (times) 1.22 1.24 1.29 1.09 1.18

Profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 60,040 28,610 5,799 664 (22,741)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners 60,050 28,615 5,692 767 (22,737)
Earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) 6.59 3.13 0.62 0.08 (2.49)
Return on average total assets 7.1% 3.5% 0.8% 0.1% (3.0%)
Return on average capital and reserves 8.8% 4.4% 0.9% 0.1% (3.5%)

Dividends

Dividends declared 18,233 9,117 1,827 — —
Dividend per share (HK cents) 2.00 1.00 0.20 — —
Dividend payout ratio 30.4% 31.9% 32.1% — —
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